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imany®

Dear Fellow Stockholders,

{n 2006, I-many remained the recognized leader in Contract
Lifecycle Management (CLM) as it introduced, sold, and
delivered state-of-the-art CLM software to many of the world's
largest corporations.

I-many helped these companies to better manage and optimize
their revenue and spend by delivering I-many ContractSphera®
applications on our new platform. With profitability, compli-
ance, and risk management all high on executive agendas,
the demand for systems that manage obligations increased
as companies looked to I-many for the most comprehensive
and capable solutions available. This demand was evident as
a year of major milestones and achievements was topped off
in the final quarter with a number of new contract wins and
the significant commitment of three Life Sciences companies
to our new ContractSphere applications.

Major milestones in 2006 included the delivery of a new
platform versign of our flagship Life Sciences product, I-many
CARS?, to our largest Life Sciences customer, Premier. We
released the first of a series of powerful analytics tools built
on the new platform, which is now producing forecasts at a
leading pharmaceutical company. We made the 30th sale of
I-many Government Pricing™ and can now claim that every
one of the nation's top 10 pharmaceutical companies is an
I-many customer.

Many of our existing Life Sciences customers also
demanstrated their satisfaction by buying |-many's latest-
generation CLM solution for Life Sciences [i.e., all or a
combination of l-many Medicaid™, I-many CARS, and
I-many Validata™}) to cost effectively and accurately manage
the complexities of Medicaid and managed care contracts.
Outside of Life Sciences, a major diversified technology
company expanded the use of our Contract Manager product
to two additional divisions. These and other major wins in 2006
reflect customer confidence in our ability to deliver world-
class solutions for global enterprises, which has made us the
dominant provider of CLM.

World's Largest “Pure Play” in CLM

Given this success, it may not come as a great surprise that
-many was recently named by Software Magazine as the

world's largest “pure play” CLM vendorin the software industry
and for the third consecutive year was also included in the
magazine's Software 500. We were also listed again in the
Supply & Demand Chain Executive 100 as a leading innovator in
helping companies transform the way they create and leverage
supply and demand chains. And Forrester Research recognized
I-many as a leader and pioneer in buy-side and sell-side CLM.
We are the recognized leader because our solutions are
built on a scalable and flexible platform that leverages open
standards widely accepted in the industry. Our platform
supports easy integration of applications that companies
require as their needs evolve, inciuding contract creation,
contract negotiation, active compliance management,
rebate and incentive management, and reporting and
analysis. I-many solutions transferm how companies manage
end-to-end contract processes and regulatory requirements
across all contract types in the enterprise. As a pioneer in
contract management and compliance automation for nearly
two decades, we continue to deliver the innovative solutions
that define market direction.

Keeping an Eye on the Big Picture

Our success as a leader allowed us to exceed our guidance for
bookings of new orders in 2006 by some $400,000. However, our
GAAP net revenues were less than we had forecasted for 2006.
This occurred for a couple of reasons. First, we continued to
be mare successful in selling software subscriptions than we
had anticipated, with some 71% of gross revenue from new
software transactions booked as subscriptions rather than as
traditional perpetual license sales. This compares to about 59%
in 2005, In the final guarter of 2006, virtually 100% of the gross
revenue from new bookings were attributed to subscriptions.
Since subscriptions spread revenus over three to five years,
we could only record a small portion of new subscriptions as
GAAP revenue in 2006. Second, we rescheduled the release
of version 4.5 of I-many Contract Manager in order to meet
certain customer requirements. This delayed revenue
recognition on several implementations that we now expect
to record in 2007.
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While subscriptions have made it challenging to accurately
predict GAAP net revenue, they have provided !-many with
an investment that has the potential for greater and more
predictable long-term payoff. The amount of GAAP net revenue
generated from subscription cantracts sold in prior periods and
reported in the final quarter of 2006 reached a record $708,000,
or nearly double the amount reported in the same period last
year. This demonstrates that our investment in subscription
strategy is paying off as this stream grows larger and stronger,
and forms a backlog that also continues to reach record levels.
By year-end, the total amount of unamortized subscriptions to
be recognized over the next five years reached $14.8 million, up
72% from 2005. When combined with deferred revenue related
to maintenance, support, and hosting contracts, our total
backlog was up 50% to a record $30.8 million. What does all this
mean? Altogether, |-many has built a base of solid revenug that
will come to us with the passage of time, bringing additional
stability and predictability to future results.

Buildup of Long-term Revenue Stream
Deferred Revenue and Unamortized Subscriptions Continue to Reach Record Lavets
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In addition to subscriptions, building new applications running
on our CLM platform has been ancther major area of investment,
bringing our R&D expenses to nearly 40% of revenue or almost
double the industry average, R&D investment will continue into
a good part of 2007, but we see this level reducing substantially
as these projects end and we unlock excellent revenue and
profit potential.

Nat only are applications developed on our new CLM platform
designed to provide the most powerful capabilities for our
customers, but also the inherent efficiencies of this state-of-the-
art architecture make development and implementation easier
and less costly. This is especially important as we maintain our
aggressive development program and look to enter new vertical
markets by offering a highly atiractive customer ROI.

Gearing Up for Big Game Hunting

We ended 2006 with approximately $17.7 million, about the
same amount of cash with which we started the year. This was
primarily due to a financing of $6.5 million, net of expenses,
which we completed in the third quarter. This investment by

new and existing investors at virtually market price represents
a vote of confidence in our progress and potential, as well as
an encouraging desire to own part of a company that is the
dominant leader of an emerging high-growth industry. Naturally,
we are delighted to have them on board.

However, those who have been following I-many might question
the need for this financing, as we have been adamantin the past
that we do not need additional cagpital to run the business. This
was as true when we undertook the financing as it is today.
On the other hand, we have talked about 2007 looking to be a
breakout year and we will be asking some very large enterprise
customers to make seven-figure decisions on our products. We
want to present a balance sheet that is strong and that signals
we have the long-term staying power our customers can depend
upon. Equally, as the company expands and continues to pursue
a subscription strategy that is unigue in this space, providing a
competitive edge and long-term customer loyalty, this additional
cash on the balance sheet provides us options and flexibility.

Looking Ahead

As 2007 develops, we see l-manys revenue growth and
profitability nearing an inflection point due to several
intersecting trends. First, the major R&D effort on our new CLM
platform will be wrapping up, bringing R&D expenses down
substantially in the second half of 2007. This means an increase
to the bottom line.

On another upside, we will be unlocking the revenue potential
of this R&D investment as we offer new and existing customers
our "next-gen” CLM suite. As the dominant leader in this space
— with a marquee client list second to none — we will be in
an ideal position to benefit from the growing market demand by
new and existing customers, across broad industry categories,
for a comprehensive and integrated CLM solution that only
I-many can offer. Meanwhile, our accumulating backlog
in deferred revenue and unamortized subscriptions will be
increasingly realized in 2007 as net revenue. We see these
factars coming together to significantly expand our top line.
Add the efforts of the motivated and talented team of people
throughout our organization, from the board of directors to the
professionaf sales staff, we can look to a future that realizes
I-many's tremendous potential.

Sincerely,

John A. Rade
Chairman of the Board, President and CEQ
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PART1

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

The information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the
meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended. Such statements are based upon current expectations that involve risks and
uncertainties. Any statements contained herein that are not statements of historical fact may be deemed to be
forward-looking statements. For example, words such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “estimates,” “predicts,”
“potential,” “continue,” “strategy,” “believes,” “anticipates,” “plans, ™
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expects,” “intends,” and similar
expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. Qur actual results and the timing of certain
events may differ materially from the results expressed or implied in the forward-looking statement. Factors that
might cause or contribute to such a discrepancy include, but are not limited to, our critical accounting policies
described in ltem 7 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and those factors discussed in Item 1A, “Risk Factors.”
Although we may elect to update forward-looking statements in the future, we specifically disclaim any
obligation to do so, even if our estimates change, and readers should not rely on our forward-looking statements
as representing our views as of any date subsequent to the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

OVERVIEW

We provide software and related professional services that allow our clients to manage important aspects of
their contract-based, business-to-business relationships, including:

» Contract creation, repository, actionable terms tracking, date and event monitoring and reporting

» Contract compliance management for verification of compliance and accuracy of orders, shipments,
invoices, rebates and payments to ensure error-free operations and proper performance-based incentives

*  Cash collection, deductions management and dispute resolution, often based on analysis of agreed to
contract terms and conditions and

+ Evaluation of the effectiveness of contracts and business operations.

In 2006, software license fees comprised 13.4% of our total revenue, and services fees comprised 86.6%. In
2003, software license fees comprised 19.3% of our total revenue, and services fees comprised 80.7%. In 2004,
software license fees comprised 29.4% of our total revenue, and services fees comprised 70.6%. This declining
trend in annual software license fees is largely a reflection of the growth in our multi-year subscription license
sales, which result in greater deferred license revenue than traditional perpetual license sales. See
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

QOur clients include supply chain participants on both the “buy” side and “sell” side of business transactions
across numerous vertical markets, including manufacturers, distributors, demand aggregators, retailers and
purchasers.

We operate our business in two segments: our health and life sciences line of business and our other
industries (which we call our “industry solutions”) business, The health and life sciences line of business markets
and sells our products and services 1o companies in the life sciences industries, including pharmaceutical and
medical product companies, wholesale distributors, hospitals, group purchasing organizations and managed care
organizations. Our industry solutions line of business targets all other industries, with an emphasis on consumer
products, foodservice, electronics, service providers, disposables, consumer durables, industrial products,
chemicals, energy, apparel, and telecommunications. Our primary products and services were originally
developed to manage complex contract purchasing relationships in the health and life sciences industry, and we
currently count 17 of the largest 20 worldwide pharmaceutical manufacturers, ranked according to 2005 annual
pharmaceutical company revenues, as customers. As the depth and breadth of our product suiles have expanded,
we have added companies in the industry solutions markets to our customer base. Our customers include Bayer,
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Eli Lilly, AstraZeneca, GlaxoSmithKline, Novartis Pharmaceuticals, Procter & Gamble, Honeywell Aerospace,
RONA, Shell Oil, Frito Lay and Cadbury Schweppes, each of which generated more than $150,000 in revenue to
us in the year ended December 31, 2006. [n 2006, approximately 74% of our revenues were from health and life
sciences customers and 26% of our revenues were from industry solutions sources. See Item 8, Note 9 to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

We deliver our products chiefly through two means: (1) software licensed for installation on our clients’
computer systems, and (2) to a lesser extent, software licensed and hosted on our servers, which are operated and
supported by third-party providers, While some of our software products are focused on customers in our health
and life sciences market—I-many Medicaid™ and I-many Government Pricing™, for example—many of our
products are usefui solutions for companies in both our industry solutions market and our health and life sciences
market. See “Products and Services—Products” below.

THE BUSINESS-TO-BUSINESS MARKETPLACE

We believe that the growth of business-to-business trade is characterized, and will continue to be
characterized, by the increasing use of contracts between supply chain participants and the need to ensure that
terms negotiated in contracts are in fact being observed and tracked for compliance. In our targeted industries—
heatthcare and life sciences, consumer products, foodservice, industrial products, chemicals, apparel and other
industries where complex purchase contracts exist—the process of creating contracts and identifying and
resolving contract compliance issues throughout their life cycle are often accomplished through the use of paper-
based or legacy computer systems that are unsnitable for managing the volume and complexity of contracts. In
addition, these industries employ pricing mechanisms such as chargebacks and rebates to adjust amounts paid by
purchasers. Calculating, reconciling and distributing these chargebacks and rebates while simultanecusly
ensuring pricing compliance with myriad governmental regulations and other tasks associated with them often
result in high administrative costs and disputes involving substantial amounts of money.

Supply chain participants frequently use sales and purchasing contracts to facilitate the purchase and sale of
goods and services. These contracts—among supply chain participants, such as manufacturers, distributors,
retailers, demand aggregators such as buying groups, and the end users of goods and services—allow buyers and
sellers to budget, plan and manage funds and agree on prices, discounts and volume rebates. These contracts
often establish price and non-price incentives, which can be based upon multiple factors, including:

» total volume of products purchased

= overall sales of particular products

* duration of the contract

* number of parties to the contract

» local, state and federal governmental regulations

» number of products covered by the contract and

* the purchaser's demographic characteristics.
In addition to these incentives, contracts can include any number of other attributes, including requirements for
fulfilling shipments within prescribed time periods, advanced shipping notifications, packaging and labeling
requirements.

Supply Chain Participants. The business-to-business supply chain includes the following participants:

+  MANUFACTURERS of products that use business-to-business relationships, including contracts, to
establish favorable prices, assure a reliable channel of distribution and offer incentives to achieve their
sales and marketing goals;




* DISTRIBUTORS that purchase goocds from manufacturers or demand aggregators for resale;

+  DEMAND AGGREGATORS AND OTHER INTERMEDIARIES representing groups of purchasers,
such as group purchasing organizations in the healthcare industry and buying cooperatives in the
consumer products and foodservice industries, that aggregate their members’ demand for products to
obtain favorable pricing terms. Demand aggregators typically receive monthly fees from their members
or receive a percentage of all transactions negotiated on their constituents’ behalf;,

= PURCHASERS AND RETAILERS of products that buy goods under contracts negotiated on their
behalf by demand aggregators or other intermediaries; and

» BUSINESS-TO-BUSINESS E-COMMERCE EXCHANGES that allow supply chain participants to
establish business relationships using the Internet,

Complexity of Contract Buying/Selling. In the industries we target, contracts typically contain pricing
incentives and other mechanisms designed to meet the particular goals of the trading partners. The price of any
particular product or service purchased under a typical contract of our customers may vary substantially,
depending upon, among other things, external factors such as a manufacturer’s market share and the purchaser’s
demographic characteristics, and highly specific factors such as the number of units of a particular product
purchased during a specified time period. Contracts also allow buyers and sellers to budget, plan and manage
funds and agree on prices, discounts and volume rebates. Training, maintenance and other non-price incentives
can also be based upon multiple factors. Other contract attributes include criteria such as a requirement for
fulfilling shipments within prescribed time periods, advanced notifications and packaging and labeling
requirements. Contracts contain numerous and varied clauses and other business performance language that must
also be internally reviewed, approved and managed by both buyers and seliers. Compliance with this language
and the individual financial transactions governed by master contracts must be measured in order to ensure the
intended outcome of a contract is achieved or to avoid penalties with commercial trading partners or government
entities.

Contracts are often negotiated on behalf of a large number of purchasers and include pricing incentives,
which result in different prices for otherwise similarly-situated purchasers, based on the purchasers’ achievement
of, or failure to achieve, certain goals (usually volume-related) under the contract.

While many purchase contract variations exist, several fundamental types of pricing mechanisms in
purchase contracts are itlustrative of the complexity involved. Specific examples include chargeback (also called
“deviated billing” or “billbacks,” depending upon the indusiry) and rebate management. Chargebacks are
generally used as an incentive tool in contracts between manufacturers and demand aggregators. Eligible
members of a demand aggregator (meaning purchasers who are on a contract of the aggregator, such as a group
purchasing organization or buying cooperative) order products either directly from the manufacturer or, more
commonly, through a large distributor. When a product is ordered through a distributor, the distributor must sell
the item at the price negotiated between the manufacturer and the demand aggregator. Often, the manufacturer
asks the distributor to sell to the member at a price below the price the distributor paid the manufacturer, In these
cases, the distributor attempts to verify the eligibility of the member to receive the lower contract price and, if the
purchaser is eligible, the distributor seeks to recover, or chargeback, from the manufacturer the difference
between the distributor’s cost and the lower contract price. Given the large volume of purchases under these
contracts, constantly changing membership in demand aggregators, complicated eligibility requirements and
disparate information systems involved, it is not uncommon for manufacturers, purchasers, demand aggregators,
and distributors to calculate significantly different chargebacks, resulting in disputes among the parties, which
require an approved method of adjudication.

A second type of pricing mechanism is a rebate. Typically, rebate provisions entitle a purchaser to a return
of a portion of the purchase price based on factors such as the volume of product purchased or increase in market
share achieved. Rebate provisions are common in contracts between manufacturers and large volume purchasers.
Manufacturers generally adopt this kind of agreement in order to further their marketing objectives. In order to
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determine rebates based on market share, the parties must refer to external market share data. As with chargeback
contracts, the complicated task of administering rebate-based contracts often results in high administrative costs
and disputes involving substantial amounts of money.

Many additional mechanisms contained in a purchase contract, sales contract, royalty agreement, or
partnering arrangement must also be memorialized and tracked for compliance in order to satisfy contractual
commitments or governmental regulations, including the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Administrative Demands of Contract Purchasing. As a result of the intricacies of contract purchasing,
the administration of sales, purchase and other contracts and agreements can be difficult and expensive. Among
other things, each participant in the supply chain must be able to:

» Target and plan trading partner relationships

= Negotiate terms and conditions, including specific language requiring legal review and approval
*  Plan and monitor the impact of different pricing strategies

*  Monitor dates or events

« Integrate pricing, inventory, market share and other data relevant to the contract with existing enterprise
resource planning and other management systems

* Validate purchasers’ eligibility for participation in specific contracts or parts of contracts, including the
time period in which the purchaser is on the contract, agreed-upon pricing mechanisms, rebates and
distributors’ eligibility for chargebacks

* Transact or adjudicate transactions relative to the terms and conditions of the contract—often
encompassing encrmous volumes of data related to invoices, inventory, shipments and market share

»  Monitor compliance of the contract against specific governmental or industry requirements or
regulations

¢ Monitor compliance of individual sale and purchase transactions against the terms and conditions of the
master contracts that govern them

+  Settle disputes associated with contract and non-contract issues such as price discrepancies,
non-compliance, misallocation of funds, level of earned incentives, and others, and

» Evaluate the performance of completed and in-process contracts based on the original intent of the
agreement from the perspective of both buyers and seliers.

I-MANY’S SOLUTIONS

Broad Offering of Contract Lifecycle Management Capabilities. Our products are designed to address
business and process needs related to contract management, which in combination we refer to as “Contract
LifeCycle Management.” Contract Lifecycle Management provides organizations with the visibility to ensure
compliance and consistency in their contractual relationships. We provide software that allows our clients to
optimize their revenue and comply with expenditure limits for critical aspects of their contract-based
business-to-business relationships, including:

»  Contract creation, repository and change notifications, including verification and approval of specific
language for participants in complex supply chains

* Vaiidation of data prior to determining amounts owed under a contract

¢ Verification of compliance with and accuracy of orders, shipments, invoices, rebates and payments to
ensure error-free operations and proper performance-based incentives

+ Settlement and dispute capabilities to resolve payment discrepancies due to contracts, and

» Evaluation of the effectiveness of contracts.




Flexible Product Offerings. We deliver our products through several means. We generally license and deliver
our products for installation on our clients” own computer systems. In addition, we can license our products on an
application service provider basis, which means that we install the software on servers hosted and supported by third
party providers, which our client then accesses over the Intemet or over a secure private network. In 2004 we began
to license our solutions as subscriptions, typically for a three year term. We believe that these delivery and licensing
alternatives provide our clients with flexibility in terms of how they choose to pay for our products, and the level of
internal information technology support resources they need to optimize the use.

PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

Products. To date, a significant portion of our revenues has come from the sale of software licenses and
related professional services to healthcare manufacturers, distributors, group purchasing organizations and other
companies in the life and health sciences customer base, representing altogether 73% of our revenues in 2004,
76% of our revenues in 2005, and 74% of our revenues in 2006. In 2006, no single customer accounted for
greater than 10% of total net revenue. Our license fees are based on a number of factors, including the nature and
number of modules being licensed, the number of users, the term of the license and the size of ihe client. For a
discussion of our product market segments, see Note 9 to the financial statements contained in ltem 8 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The following are brief descriptions of products within our Contract Lifecycle Management, Revenue
Optimization for Health and Life Sciences, and Revenue Commitment Management Suites:

I-many Contract Lifecycle Management Solution Suite:

+ I-many Contract Manager™: Centralizes contract content and terms in an enterprise class repository
for rapid search and view capabilities. Also provides the ability to create contracts from existing
templates and clauses, with collaborative workflow and an auditable approval process. Enables
compliance and monitoring of specific dates and other identified events.

* I-many Compliance Manager™: Enables companies to compare actual transaction results against the
terms and conditions of a contract to determine if the transaction conducted was in compliance with the
original intent of the contract. It also reduces “maverick™ procurement and sales orders by ensuring
transactions are tied back to the contract.

« l-many Self Service™: Enables companies to easily create a pre-approved, fill-in-the-blank form to
create an agreement, such as a non-disclosure agreement, by following a step-by-step process. [-many
Self Service allows companies to create or request a contract anytime, from anywhere, with virtually no
training, and without legal involvement,

I-many Revenue Optimization for Health and Life Sciences Solution Suite:

* I-many Contract Manager™: Described above under “I-many Contract Lifecycle Mianagement
Solution Suite.”

¢ I-many CARS®: Provides comprehensive, end-to-end management of mission critical, incentive-driven
contract and program processes.

+ l-many Medicaid™: Processes data, calculates rebates and creates payments for both federal and state
rebate programs.

* I-many Medicaid State Supplemental™: Streamlines I-many Medicaid’s product contract setup and
invoice processing. Key components include a Non-Standard Rebate Per Unit Calculator Pack and
Supplemental Claim Processing.

+ I-many Medicaid Analytics'': Enables companies to optimize, enhance and dramatically streamline
the Medicaid contract analysis process. [-many Medicaid Analytics allows companies to perform
various “what if”" analyses on Medicaid, supplemental and state programs.
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I-many Government Pricing™: Enables companies to quickly and efficiently monitor and comply with
all government-mandated pricing and reporting requirements established by the Medicaid Drug Rebate
Program, the Federal Supply Schedule and the Veteran’s Health Care Act of 1992.

I-many Compliance Manager™: Described above under “I-many Contract Lifecycle Management
Solution Suite.”

I-many Validata™: Enables companies to ensure the validity and accuracy of the billions of dollars in
managed care and Medicaid rebates that pharmaceutical manufacturers process and pay each year.
I-many Validata provides manufacturers with the ability to validate prescription-level claims for the
Medicare drug rebate program and the new state and supplemental programs.

I-many Revenue Commitmeni Management Solution Suite:

I-many Deductions Manager™: Works in real time with enterprise resource planning, or ERP, systems
and other essential back-office systems to increase deduction collections by automating and
streamlining customer communications and follow-up. Deductions Manager speeds resolution through
the use of automated, user-defined action steps and provides detailed deduction reporting and deduction
tracking history.

I-many Collections Manager™: Improves cash flow and reduces days sales outstanding, or DSO, by
streamlining and automating collections processes. The solution is web-based and optimized for global
organizations that can benefit from user-defined workflows.

Professional Services. Our professional services group provides consulting services, deployment services,
business analysis services, and training and customer support services. At December 31, 2006, this group was
comprised of 85 employees. The group is augmented by outside consultants whom we have trained, working as
subcontractors or through strategic relationship agreements.

CONSULTING SERVICES. We work with our ¢lients before, during and after instaliation of our
solutions to optimize the capabilities of our solutions. These services include project planning and
management, business process analysis, technical services including integration with the clients’
enterprise resource planning systems, and quality assurance.

DEPLOYMENT SERVICES. Our deployment services include pre-installation planning, on-site
installation, upgrade services, system testing, database administration support and professional service
support.

BUSINESS ANALYSIS AND TRAINING SERVICES. We offer business analysis services and
training programs for those persons within the client organization responsible for using our solutions,
such as contract administrators. In addition, we offer user group meetings to enable customers to learn
about product directions and influence our future products.

TECHNICAL SERVICES. We offer comprehensive maintenance and support services, including
telephone hotline service (available during business hours or, for additional fees, up to 24 hours a day,
7 days a week), documentation updates and new software releases.

CUSTOMERS

Approximately 74% of our revenue in 2006 was derived from companies in the health and life sciences
industries, including pharmaceutical and medical product companies, wholesale distributors and managed care
organizations. We also have sold our solutions to companies in other industries such as consumer products,
foodservice, disposables, consumer durables, industrial products, chemicals, apparel and others. In 2006, no
single customer accounted for greater than 10% of total net revenue. Revenues from customers based outside the
United States, primarily the United Kingdom and the Netherlands, comprised 8.4%, 9.3%, and 12.2% of our total
revenues in 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively. At December 31, 2006, 3.2% of our total tangible assets were
located outside the United States, primarily in the United Kingdom.
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SALES AND MARKETING

We market our software and services primarily through a direct sales force. As of December 31, 2006, our
worldwide sales force consisted of a total of 21 employees, including 9 full-time account executives, 2 sales
directors who both carry an individual quota and have supervision responsibilities, and 10 persons who were
sales management or sales support employees. We intend to continue to evaluate the size and structure of our
sales force. As of December 31, 2006, we employed 7 marketing employees. We also intend to evaluate the use
of third party resellers of our products and services as a supplement to our own direct sales efforts.

TECHNOLOGY AND PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT

As of December 31, 2006, we employed 52 people in our product development organization. This group is
augmented by a significant number of outside consultants, most of which are based off-shore. This organization
is responsible for the design, development and release of our products. The group is organized into five
disciplines: development, qualily assurance, documentation, product management and project engineering.
Members from each discipline form separate product teams to work closely with our sales, marketing, services,
client and prospects organizations to better understand market needs and user requirements, Each product team
also hosts a series of user focus groups, and representatives attend our user conference. We also use third parties
to expand the capacity and technical expertise of our internal product development organization. Periodically, we
have licensed third-party technology and we have acquired companies with products and technologies that are
complementary to our existing products. We believe this approach shortens our time to markel without
compromising our competitive position or product quality, and we plan to continue to draw on third-party
resources as needed in the future, Research and development expenses totaled $11.9 million, $11.3 million and
$12.6 million, respectively, in 2004, 2005 and 2006.

COMPETITION

The contract management software market continues to be subject to rapid change. Competitors vary in size
and in the scope and breadth of the products and services offered. We still encounter competition primarily from
internal information systems departments of potential or current customers that develop custom software,
software companies that target the contract management markets, and professional services organizations.

We believe that the principal competitive factors affecting our market include product reputation,
functionality, ease-of-use, ability to integrate with other products and technologies, quality, performance, price,
customer service and support and the vendors’ reputation. Although we believe that our products currently
compete favorably with regard to such factors, we cannot assure you that we can maintain our competitive
position against current and potential competitors. Increased competition may result in price reductions, less
beneficial contract terms, reduced gross margins and loss of market share, any of which could materialty and
adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition,

Many of our competitors and potential competitors have greater resources than we do, and may be able to
respond more quickly and efficiently to new or emerging technologies, programming languages or standards, or
to changes in customer requirements or preferences. Many of our competitors can devote greater managerial or
financial resources than we can to develop, promote and distribute contract management software products and
provide related consulting, training and support services. We cannot assure you that our current or future
competitors will not develop products or services that may be superior in one or more respects to ours or that
may gain greater market acceptance. Some of our competitors have established or may establish cooperative
arrangements or strategic alliances among themselves or with third parties, thus enhancing their abilities to
compete with us. It is likely that new competitors will emerge and rapidly acquire market share. We cannot
assure you that we will be able to compete successfully against current or future competitors or that the
competitive pressures faced by us will not materially and adversely affect our business, operating results and
financial condition. See *‘Risk Factors—We have many competitors and potential competitors and we may not be
able to compete effectively.”



INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY AND LICENSES

We rely primarily on a combination of copyright, trademark and trade secrets laws, as well as
confidentiality agreements to protect our proprietary rights. Our trademarks include our corporate name and the
namies of our products. In addition, we have filed applications for patent protection with respect to certain aspects
of our preducts; to date, no patents have been issued to us.

From time to time, we license software from third parties for use with our products. We believe that no such
license agreement to which we are presenily a party is individually material and that if any such license
agreement were to terminate for any reason, we would be able to obtain a license or otherwise acquire other
comparable technology or software on terms and on a timetable that would not be materially adverse to us,

EMPLOYEES

As of December 31, 2006, we had a total of 185 employees, of whom 45 were based in Portland, Maine, 51
were based in Redwood City, California, 28 were based at our headguarters in Edison, New Jersey, 5 were based
at our international headquarters in London, England, and 56 worked at other offices and remote locations. Of the
total, 52 were in research and development, 28 were in sales and marketing, 85 were in professional and support
services, and 20 were in administration and finance. Our future performance depends in significant part upon the
continued service of our key technical, sales and marketing and senior management personnel and our continuing
ability to attract and retain highly qualified technical, sales and marketing and managerial personnel, Competition
for such personnel is strong and we cannot assure you that we will be successful in attracting or retaining such
personnel in the future. None of our employees is represented by a labor union or is subject to a collective
bargaining agreement. We have not experienced any work stoppages and consider our relations with our
employees to be good.

COMPANY BACKGROUND

We were originally incorporated in Massachusetts as Systems Consulting Company, Inc., or SCC, on
June 5, 1989. On April 2, 1998, SCC Technologies, Inc., a Delaware corporation, was formed as a holding
company and acquired all the stock of SCC. In January 2000, SCC Technologies, Inc. changed its name to
[-many, Inc., and SCC merged into [-many, Inc. Qur Internet website address is www.imany.com. We are not
including the information contained in our website as part of, or incorporating it by reference into, this Annual
Report on Form [0-K. We make available, free of charge through our website, our annual reports on Form 10-K,
quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to these reports, as soon as
reasonably practicable after we electronically file these materials with, or otherwise furnish them to, the
Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC.

ITEM 1A.RISK FACTORS

WE HAVE INCURRED SUBSTANTIAL LOSSES IN RECENT YEARS AND OUR RETURN TO
PROFITABILITY IS UNCERTAIN

We incurred net losses of $7.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2004, $9.3 million in the year ended
December 31, 2005 and $15.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2006, and we had an accumulated deficit
at December 31, 2006 of $150.2 million, Qur recent results have been impacted by a number of factors, including
decisions to defer revenue associated with one of our software products and relatively high research and
development expense related to our efforts to resolve deficiencies in that product, and we cannot assure you that
we will not be affected by these or other factors in future periods. We cannot assure you that we will achieve
sufficient revenues to become profitable in the future.
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IT IS DIFFICULT FOR US TO PREDICT WHEN OR IF SALES WILL OCCUR AND WHEN WE WILL
RECOGNIZE THE REVENUE FROM OUR FUTURE SALES

Our clients view the purchase of our software applications and related professional services as a significant
and strategic decision. As a result, clients carefully evaluate our software products and services, often over long
periods. The license of our software products may be subject to delays if the client has lengthy internal
budgeting, approval and evaluation processes, which are quite common in the context of introducing large
enterprise-wide technology solutions. The length of this evaluation process varies from client to client. Our
clients have also shown a growing interest in licensing our software on a subscription basis, which results in
deferral of payments and revenues that would otherwise be reportable if a traditional perpetual license were
executed. Our revenue forecasts and internal budgets are based, in part, on our best assumptions about the mix of
future subscription licenses versus perpetual licenses. If we enter into a larger proportion of subscription
agreements than planned, we may experience an unplanned shortfall in revenues or cash during that quarter. A
significant percentage of our expenses, particularly personnel costs and rent, are fixed costs and are based in part
on expectations of future revenues. We may be unable to reduce spending in a timely manner to compensate for
any significant fluctuations in revenues and cash, Accordingly, shortfalls in current revenues, as we experienced
in recent quarters, may cause our operating results to be below the expectations of public market analysts or
investors, which could cause the value of our common stock to decline.

WE CANNOT GUARANTEE THAT QUR DEFERRED REVENUE WILL BE RECOGNIZED AS PLANNED

In 2005 we became aware of certain deficiencies in the then-current version of one of our software preducts,
which had first been shipped to customers in the fourth quarter of 2004. These deficiencies, which were not
identified in pre-release product testing, aftected the performance of the software for a portion of our customers,
depending on each customer’s particular implementation environment and its intended use of the software. We
have generatly not recognized revenue from sales of this software product and related implementation services
beginning in the third quarter of 2003, except in limited cases. As of December 31, 2006, we have deferred $3.5
million of otherwise-recognizable license and professional service revenue. We intend to continue deferring
revenue in connection with license sales and implementation services for this software product unti! it has been
demonstrated at customer sites that the new release of the software is free of significant performance
deficiencies. If we are not successful in resolving these deficiencies on a timely basis, we may not be able to
recognize this deferred revenue as we have projected.

OUR CASH POSITION HAS DECLINED AND WILL LIKELY CONTINUE TO DECLINE UNTIL WE
RETURN TO SUSTAINED PROFITABILITY

Our future long-term capital needs will depend significantly on the rate of growth of our business, our
profitability, the mix of subscription licensing arrangements versus perpetual licenses sold, possible acquisitions,
the timing of expanded product offerings and the success of these offerings if and when they are launched.
Accordingly, our future long-term cash needs and cash flows are subject to substantial uncertainty. If our current
balance of cash and cash equivalents is insufficient to satisfy our long-term liquidity needs, we may seek to sell
additional equity or debt securities to raise funds, and those future securities may have rights, preferences or
privileges senior to those of the rights of our common stock. In connection with a sale of stock, our stockholders
would experience dilution. In addition, we cannot be certain that additional financing will be available to us on
favorable terms when required, or at all.

WE NEED TO GROW IN MARKETS OTHER THAN THE HEALTH AND LIFE SCIENCES MARKET FOR
OUR FUTURE GROWTH

Our business plan has been to reduce our reliance on the health and life sciences market, which has traditionaily
been the primary source of our revenues, by increasing sales in our Industry Solutions line of business, our non-health
and life sciences business. Revenues from the Industry Solutions segment have comprised 27.3%, 24.4% and 26.0%,
respectively, of our consolidated revenues for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006. We have not been
successful in generating the revenue growth we expected from these markets and we cannot assure you that we will be
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successful in the future. One of our key software products in the Industry Solutions segment has experienced certain
deficiencies which we are working to resolve, and with respect to sales of which we have deferred revenue, See “We
cannot guarantee that our deferred revenue will be recognized as planned.”

WE MAY NOT BE SUCCESSFUL IN DEVELOPING OR ACQUIRING NEW TECHNOLOGIES OR
BUSINESSES AND THIS COULD HINDER QUR EXPANSION EFFORTS

Despite our intentions to reduce our product research and development efforts to levels more customary for
our industry, in the near term we may continue our product research and development efforts at levels similar to
current expenditures. We have had quality issues with one of our software products, which have affected our
sales and have caused us to defer revenue recognition, and these issues may continue. We may consider
additional acquisitions of or new investments in complementary businesses, products, services or technologies.
We cannot assure you that we will be successful in our product development efforts or that we will be able to
identify appropriate acquisition or investment candidates. Even if we do identify suitable candidates, we cannot
assure you that we will be able to make such acquisitions or investments on commercially acceptable terms.
Furthermore, we may incur debt or issue equity securities to pay for any future acquisitions. The issuance of
equity securities could be dilutive to our existing stockholders and the issuance of debt could limit our available
cash and accordingly restrict our activities.

WE HAVE MANY COMPETITORS AND POTENTIAL COMPETITORS AND WE MAY NOT BE ABLE TO
COMPETE EFFECTIVELY

The market for our products and services is competitive and subject to rapid change. We encounter
significant competition for the sale of our contract management software from the internal information systems
departments of existing and potential clients, software companies that target the contract management markets
and professional services organizations. Qur competitors vary in size and in the scope and breadth of products
and services offered. We anticipate increased competition for market share and pressure to reduce prices and
make sales concessions, particularly in our Industry Solutions segment, which could materially and adversely
affect our revenues and margins.

WE HAVE MULTIPLE FACILITIES AND WE MAY EXPERIENCE DIFFICULTIES IN OPERATING
FROM THESE DIFFERENT LOCATIONS

We operate out of our corporate headquarters in Edison, New Jersey, engineering offices in Redwood City,
California and Portland, Maine, and an office facility in London, England. The geographic distance between our
offices makes it more challenging for our management and other employees to collaborate and communicate
with each other than if they were all located in a single facility, and, as a result, increases the strain on our
managerial, operational and financial resources. Also, a significant number of our sales and professional services
employces work remotely out of home offices, which adds to this strain,

WE MAY NOT BE SUCCESSFUL IN RETAINING AND ATTRACTING TALENTED AND KEY
EMPLOYEES

We depend on the services of our senior management and key technical personnel. The loss of the services
of key employees, and the inability to attract new employees to fill crucial roles, could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

WE EXPERIENCED CHANGES OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT IN 2005 AND 2006, WHICH MAY AFFECT
OUR BUSINESS, PARTICULARLY IN THE SHORT TERM

In August 2005, we announced the departure of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer and the
appeintment of a new Chairman of the Board with certain executive powers and a new Acting President and Chief
Executive Officer. In February 2006, our Acting President and Chief Executive Officer resigned, and our Chairman of
the Board assumed his duties on an interim basis. In August 2006, our acting President and Chief Executor Officer was
appointed to these duties on a permanent basis. Changes of this nature can create a level of uncertainty and potential
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disruption to relationships with customers, prospective customers, employees and business partners, particularly in the
short term, Our leadership will need time to become more familiar with the Company and its culture. This leadership
change could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operaticns.

OUR EFFORTS TO PROTECT OUR INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY MAY NOT BE FULLY EFFECTIVE,
AND WE MAY INADVERTENTLY INFRINGE ON THE INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY OF OTHERS

Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary rights, unauthorized parties may attempt to copy aspects of our
products or to obtain the use of information that we regard as proprietary. In addition, the laws of some foreign
countries do not protect our proprietary rights to as great an extent as do the laws of the United States. We cannot
assure investors that our means of protecting our proprietary rights will be adequate or that our competitors will
not independently develop similar technology.

We are not aware that any of our products infringe the proprietary rights of third parties. We cannot assure
investors, however, that third parties will not claim infringement by us with respect to current or future products.
We expect that sofiware product developers will increasingly be subject to infringement claims as the number of
products and competitors in our industry segment grows and the functionality of products in different industry
segments overlaps. Any such claims, with or without merit, could be time-consuming, result in costly litigation,
cause product shipment delays or require us to enter into royalty or licensing agreements. Such royalty or
licensing agrecments, if required, may not be available on terms acceptable to us or at all, which could have a
material adverse effect upon our business, operating results and financial condition.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not Applicable

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We lease approximately 15,400 square feet of office space in Edison, New Jersey under a lease expiring in
2009, for use by executive, professional services and administrative personnel in both our business segments. A
portion of our development, customer support and administrative offices for both market segments are located in
approximately 10,700 square feet of leased office space located in Portland, Maine under a lease expiring
December 31, 2008. Also, we lease approximately 10,400 square feet of office space in Redwood City,
California under a lease expiring in 2008, for use by development, sales and marketing personnel in primarily our
other industries market segment. In addition, we lease approximately 20,500 square feet of office space in
Chicago, Illinois under a lease expiring in 2011, all of which is subleased under terms expiring in 2011; and
3,900 square feet of office space in London, England under a lease expiring in 2011, of which approximately
one-half is subleased under terms expiring in 2011.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are involved in contractual disputes, litigation and poteniial claims arising in the ordinary course of
business. We do not believe that the resolution of these matters will have a material adverse effect on our
financial position or results of operations. We are not a party to any material pending legal proceedings.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITYHOLDERS
Not Applicable

ITEM 4A.EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The following sets forth the names and certain biographical information regarding the executive officers of
the Company.

JOHN A. RADE, age 72, has served as a director since July 2005, as Chairman of the Board since August 8,
2005, and as our President and Chief Executive Officer since August 15, 2006. Mr. Rade was the President and
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CEO of AXS-One, Inc., formerly Computron Software, Inc., a publicly-traded software company, from 1997
until his retirement in 2004. Before joining Computron, he managed the pharmaceutical industry practice for
American Management Systems, Inc., a management consulting and information technology company. He was a
founder of S-Cubed, Inc., a developer and marketer of advanced software development tools. Mr. Rade’s career
in software and information technology includes international management postings, spans several decades and
includes leadership roles in other software development companies, management consulting and industrial
automation. Mr. Rade holds a BS in Physics from John Carroll University,

KEVIN M. HARRIS, age 44, has served as [-many’s Chief Financial Officer since June 2003. From January
2001 to April 2003, Mr. Harris served as division controller for Hewlett Packard’s middleware division. From
March 2000 to January 2001, Mr. Harris served as the corporate controller for Bluestone Software. From October
1998 to December 1999, Mr. Harris worked for Marketing Specialists, a food sales and marketing organization,
as executive vice president of their mid-Atlantic division. From November 1996 to October 1998, Mr, Harris
worked for Rogers-American Company, a food sales and marketing organization, as vice president/general
manager of their Philadelphia office. Mr. Harris holds B.S. and M.B.A. degrees from Drexel University.

DAVID L. BLUMBERG, age 45, has served as [-many’s Executive Vice President of Fulfillment Services
since May 2006. From July 2005 through April 2006, Mr. Blumberg served as President of David Blumberg and
Associates, a consulting firm in the Life Sciences Industries. From August 1990 through June 2005,

Mr. Blumberg worked at Accenture, LLP in a number of rales, including managing partner, global account
pariner and industry lead partner in the Pharmaceutical and Medical Products practice. Mr. Blumberg holds an
M.B.A. from the Wharton School and a B.S. in Mechanical Engineering from the Ohio State University.

A. TODD SHYTLE, age 46, has served as our Senior Vice President of Sales since March 2007 and as Vice
President of Sales since July 2004. He has been with the Company since 1999 and has served in sales
management roles since January 2004, including as Vice President of Sales for Life Sciences. Prior to joining
[-many, Mr. Shytle was responsible for sales and market development in the life sciences industry for
Manugistics, Inc., a provider of software and services for supply chain management. He has also served in
various sales roles at Johnson & Johnson, United States Surgical Corporation, and Eastman Kodak. Mr. Shyile
holds an M.B.A. from the School of Business at Queens College in Charlotte, North Carolina.

MICHAEL T. ZUCKERMAN, age 50, has served as I-many’s Senior Vice President of Marketing since
February 2007. From March 2006 through December 2006, Mr. Zuckerman served as Senior Vice President &
General Manager of Immersion Corporation’s 3D Business Unit. From October 2004 through March 2006,
Mr. Zuckerman served as the Senior Vice President & General Manager of Immersion Corporation’s Industrial
Business Unit. From October 2003 through October 2004, Mr. Zuckerman served as Immersion Corporation’s
Senior Vice President, Marketing. From June 2000 through June 2003, Mr. Zuckerman served as Vice
President of Marketing for Verity, Inc. From July 2003 through September 2003, he served as Verity’s Vice
President of Sales for America’s West, Prior to joining Verity, Inc. Mr. Zuckerman served as Vice President of
Sales and Marketing at Sensar, Inc., a provider of network security products. Mr. Zuckerman holds a B.S. in
Electrical Engineering from the University of Maryland.

ROBERT G. SCHWARTZ, JR., age 41, has served as [-many’s Vice President, General Counsel and
Secretary since September 20011. From April 2000 through August 2001, Mr. Schwartz was vice president,
general counsel, secretary and a director of Emptoris, Inc., a developer of strategic sourcing software. From
September 1999 through April 2000, Mr. Schwartz served as assistant general counsel of Cambridge Technology
Partners, a publicly-held software integration services provider. From February 1997 through August 1999,

Mr. Schwartz served as vice president, general counsel and secretary of Astea International Inc., a publicly-held
developer of customer relationship management software. Mr. Schwartz holds a B.A. from Amherst College and
a J.D. from Harvard Law School.




PARTII

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock trades on the Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol “IMNY.” The following table sets
forth the high and low closing sales prices per share for our common stock as reported on the Nasdag Global
Market for each full quarterly period within the two most recent fiscal years. As of March 1, 2007, there were
240 holders of record of our common stock.

Price Range of

Common Stock
Three Months Ended _H;gh_ ﬂ
December 31, 2006 . ... ... .. e $2.00 $1.63
September 30, 2006 . .. .. L e ey 2.43 1.82
JUNe 30, 2006 . .. e e 2.40 1.55
March 31, 2000 . ... e e 1.78 1.36
December 31, 2000 . ... . e e e 1.54 1.28
September 30, 2005 ... ... e i 1.70 1.28
June 30, 2005 . .o e e e 1.77 L.51
March 31, 2005 ... o e et 1.68 1.46

We have never paid dividends and do not anticipate paying dividends in the foreseeable future.
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STOCK PRICE PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The graph below compares the cumulative total return on I-many’s common stock with The Nasdaq Global
Market Index (U.S. companies) and Morgan Stanley High Tech Index for the period from January 1, 2002 to
December 31, 2006. The comparison assumes that $100 was invested on January 1, 2001 in [-many’s common
stock and in each of the comparison indices, and assumes reinvestment of dividends, where applicable. Stock
price performance, presented for the period from January [, 2002 through December 31, 2006, is not necessarily
indicative of future results. This stock price performance information is “furnished” and not “filed” and shall not

be deemed “soliciting material” or subject to Regulation 14A, shall not be deemed “filed”” for purposes of

Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act™), or otherwise subject to the
liabitities of that section, nor shall it be deemed incorporated by reference in any filing under the Exchange Act

or the Securities Act of 1933, as amended,

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*

Among |-many, Inc., The NASDAQ Composite Index
And The Morgan Stanley High Technology Index

$180 -
$160 o)
$140 - e oo A
$120 | ______é_,___-;-_:..-a-‘
$100
$80
$60
$40
$20 - =1 —F]
so i 1 i 1 i
1201 12/02 12/03 12/04 12/05 12/06
—&—I-many, Inc. — A— NASDAQ Composite - - O - -Morgan Stanley High Technology Index
* $100 investad on 12/31/01 in stock or index-including reinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal year ending December 31.
Stock/Index 123101 123102 123103 1231/04  12/31/05 12131406
I-many Commen Stock .......... ... ... . 100.00 14.72 10.36 15.54 14.51 17.10
Nasdaq Global MarketIndex ..................... 10000 7197 107.18 117.07 12050 137.02
Morgan Stanley High TechIndex .................. 100.00  74.17 101.2¢ 11480 128.57 15748
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ITEM 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected condensed financial data presented below as of and for each of the years in the five-year period
ended December 31, 2006 are derived from our financial statements. Historical results are not necessarily
indicative of future results. The following selected financial data should be read in conjunction with
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations™ and our financial
statements and notes to those statements and other financial information included elsewhere in this report.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,
2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA:

Total net revenues .................uoeeo... $ 54,746 $39412 $38,413  $32,576 $ 29,575
Netloss . ... (27,293) (39,491) (7,290) (9,305) (15,815)
Netlosspershare .......................... (0.69) (0.98) (0.18) (0.21) (0.33)
AS OF DECEMBER 31, :
2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
(IN THOUSANDS)
BALANCE SHEET DATA:

Cash and cash equivalents ................... $35979 § 8,914(1) $ 6,098(1) 316,805 § 17,232
Short-term investments and available for sale

SECUMLIES . ..ot e — 14,969(1) 14,610(1) — —
Working capital ......... ... ... .. ..., 32,462 20,269 14,645 9,407 3,047
Totalassets ..........covuninini .. 84,564 49,569 44,198 38,472 36,985
Capital lease obligation, including current

POTLON ...t 808 837 160 21 394
Total stockholders’ equity ................... 66,216 29,155 25,870 18,356 11,454

(1) Restated, pursuant to the Company’s determination that its method of classifying investments in certain
auction rate securities as cash and cash equivalents in its 2003 and 2004 financial statements was in error.

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATION

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction
with our financial statements and related notes. In addition to historical information, the following discussion and
other parts of this report contain forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual
results may differ materially from those anticipated by such forward-locking statements due to various factors,
inctuding, but not limited to, those set forth under “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this report. Management does
not believe that inflation or changing prices has had a material effect on our revenues and income from
continuing operations.

OVERVIEW

We provide software and related services that allow our clients to more effectively manage their contract-
based, business-to-business relationships through the entirety of the contract management lifecycle. We operate
our business in two segments: health and life sciences and industry solutions. The health and life sciences line of
business markets and sells our products and services to companies in the life sciences industries, including
pharmaceutical and medical product companies, wholesale distributors and managed care organizations. The
industry solutions line of business targets all other industries, with an emphasis on consumer products,
foodservice, disposables, oil/gas/energy, consumer durables, industrial products, chemicals, apparel, and
telecommunications.

Our primary products and services were originally developed to manage complex contract purchasing
relationships in the healthcare industry. Our software is currently licensed by 17 of the 20 largest world-wide
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pharmaceutical manufacturers, ranked according to 2005 annual pharma revenues. As the depth and breadth of our
product suites have expanded, we have added companies in the industry solutions markets to our customer base.

We have generated revenues from both products and services. Product revenues, comprised of fees
generated from licenses of our Contract Life Cycle Management Software Suites, accounted for 13.4% of net
revenues in 2006 versus 19.3% of net revenues in 2005, Service revenues include maintenance and support fees
directly related to our licensed software products, professional service fees derived from consulting, installation,
business analysis and training services related to our software products and hosting fees. Service revenues
accounted for 86.6% of net revenues in 2006 versus 80.7% of net revenues in 2005.

We implemented a number of employee headcount reductions and office downsizings during the period June
2001 through March 2004, after which our aggregate quarterly spending on cost of products and services, sales and
marketing, research and development and general and administrative expenses (excluding amortization and noncash
stock compensation) remained fairly steady—ranging from $9.2 million to $10.4 million—through the first quarter
of 2006. In early 2006, we increased our spending, primarily on research and development and professional
services, in order to (1) accelerate development of future releases of our product offerings in the health and life
sciences segment, (i) work on resolving defects in one of our software products, as explained in further detail in
“Critical Accounting Policies—Revenue Recognition™ in this Item 7, and (iii) angment staff levels at a number of
professional services engagements, primarily in connection with implementations of the software product with
performance defects at customer sites. We expect that our spending on research and development will continue at
high levels relative to our revenues for much of 2007. Our total employee headcount has increased from 170 at
March 31, 2004 and 164 at December 31, 2005 to 185 at December 31, 2006.

On March 31, 2005, the shareholders of the Company voted to reject a proposed merger among the
Company, Selectica, Inc. and a subsidiary of Selectica. As a result, the merger agreement among the parties
terminated. Under the terms of the merger agreement, Selectica would have paid $1.55 per share in cash for all
outstanding shares of our common stock, for a total transaction value of approximately $70.0 million.

In August 2005, the Company announced the departure of its Chief Executive Officer, A. Leigh Powell, and
its Chief Operating Officer, Terrence M. Nicholson. In connection with the resignation of these executives, we
incurred $350,000 in future severance and benefit costs in 2005. Also, Yorgen Edholm was appointed Acting
President and Chief Executive Officer, and John A. Rade was appointed Chairman of the Board of Directors with
certain executive powers. In February 2006, Mr. Edholm resigned as Acting President and Chief Executive
Officer while remaining on the Board of Directors, and Mr. Rade assumed the position of Acting President and
Chief Executive Officer on an interim basis. In August 2006, Mr, Rade was appointed President and Chief
Executive Officer on a permanent basis.

On November 6, 2006, we completed a private placement of our securities, issuing 3,535,566 shares of our
common stock and common stock purchase warrants to purchase up to an additional 1,060,663 shares of
common stock. The per unit price of the private placement offering was $1.98, with each unit comprised of one
share of common stock and a warrant to purchase three-tenths of a share of common stock. The warrants are
exercisable at $2.11 per share until November 2011. Net proceeds to the Company were approximately $6.5
million, after deducting commissions and other fees.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Revenue Recognition

We generate revenues from licensing our software and providing professional services, training and
maintenance and support services, Software license revenues are attributable to the addition of new customers
and the expansion or renewal of existing customer relationships through licenses covering additional users,
licenses of additional software products and license renewals.
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We recognize software license fees upon execution of a signed license agreement and delivery of the
software to customers, provided there are no significant post-delivery obligations, the payment is fixed or
determinable and collection is probable. In multiple-clement arrangements, we allocate a portion of the total fee
to professional services, training and maintenance and support services based on the fair value of those elements,
which is defined as the price charged when those elements are sold separately. The residual amount is then
allocated to the software license fee. In cases where we agree to deliver unspecified additional products in the
future, the license fee is recognized ratably over the term of the arrangement beginning with the delivery of the
first product. In cases where we agree to deliver specified additional products or upgrades in the future,
recognition of the entire license fee, including any related maintenance and support fees, is deferred until after
the specified additional products or upgrades are delivered and made generally available to all customers. If an
acceptance period is required, revenues are deferred until customer acceptance. In cases where collection is not
deemed probable, we recognize the license fee as payments are received. In cases where significant production or
customization is required prior to attaining technological feasibility of the software, license fees are recognized
on a percentage-of-completion basis and are credited to research and development expenses as a funded
development arrangement. After the software attains technological feasibility, recognizable license fees are
reported as product revenue.

Service revenues include professional services, training and maintenance and support services and
reimbursable out-of-pocket expenses. Professional service revenues are recognized as the services are performed.
If conditions for acceptance exist, professional service revenues are recognized upon customer acceptance. For
fixed fee professional service contracts, we provide for anticipated losses in the period in which the loss is
probable and can be reasonably estimated. Training revenues are recognized as the services are provided.
Included in training revenues are registration fees received from participants in our off-site user training
conferences.

Maintenance and customer support fees are recognized ratably over the term of the maintenance contract,
which is generally twelve months. When maintenance and support is included in the total license fee, we allocate
a portion of the total fee to maintenance and support based upon the price paid by the customer when sold
separately, generally as renewals in the second year,

Payments received from customers at the inception of a maintenance period are treated as deferred service
revenues and recognized ratably over the maintenance period. Payments received from customers in advance of
product shipment or revenue recognition are treated as deferred product revenues and recognized when the
product is shipped to the customer or when otherwise earned.

We offer current and prospective customers the option to enter into a subscription agreement as an
alternative to our standard license contract model. Management believes its subscription offering has expanded
the market 1o customers that find regular subscription payments an easier and more flexible implementation of
our software, and subscription arrangements have the potential to provide us with smoother and more predictable
revenue growth. The standard subscription arrangement is presently a fixed fee agreement over three to five
years, covering license fees, unspecified new product releases and maintenance and support, generally payable in
equal quarterly installments commencing upon execution of the agreement. In most agreements that have been
executed to date, the subscription arrangement converts free-of-charge to a perpetual license after the completion
of the initial term plus any extensions, generally after five years, after which time the customer would have the
option of paying for the continuation of maintenance and support. We recognize all revenue from subscription
based arrangements ratably over the term of the subscription agreement commencing upon delivery of the initial
product, Subscription installment amounts that are not yet contractually billable to customers are not reflected in
deferred revenues on our consolidated balance sheet. A portion of the periodic subscription fee revenue,
generally 13 to 17 percent, is allocated to service revenue based on the relationship of our standard annual
maintenance and support renewal rates 1o the related perpetual license fees, with the balance of the subscription
fee revenue classified as product revenue in our financial statements.
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Subscription arrangements, including perpetual license arrangements with rights to unspecified additional
products that are treated as subscriptions for accounting purposes, now represent a significant proportion of our
new licenses. In 2006, 17 of the 29 license deals (minimum value of $50,000) that were sold are being treated as
subscription arrangements for accounting purposes. During 2006 and 2005, we recognized $2.4 million and
$961,000, respectively, in product revenue related to such agreements. See the reconciliation table that follows
under “Results of Operations—Year Ended December 31, 2006 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2005—
Net Revenues” in this Item 7. For 2007, we anticipate that subscription revenues will continue to increase and
that such arrangements will represent a significant proportion of new license sales.

During the third quarter of 2003, we became aware of certain defects in the then-current version of one of
our software products, which was first shipped to customers in the fourth quarter of 2004. These defects, which
were not identified in pre-release product testing, affected the performance of the software for a portion of our
customers depending on each customet’s particular implementation environment and its intended vse of the
software. Because certain concessions have been made to customers in connection with these defects, we have
generally not recognized revenue from sales of this software product and related implementation services
beginning in the third quarter of 2005, except in those cases in which it was determined that the customer was not
likely to be affected by the known, unresolved software defects. During 2006, new versions of the software were
released, but we continued Lo experience problems with implementations at several customer sites. In the first
quarter of 2007, we plan to complete development of a major new release of the software which has been
designed to resolve known performance defects. We intend to continue deferring revenue in connection with
license sales, maintenance and support, and implementation services for this software product until it has been
demonstrated at multiple customer sites that the new release of the software is free of significant performance
defects. As of December 31, 2005 and 2006, we have reversed and deferred cumulative amounts of $1.6 million
and $3.5 million, respectively, of otherwise-recognizable product and service revenue, based in part on our
estimate of the fair value of concessions to be made until the remaining defect is resolved, and partly on our
determination that license fees were not fixed and determinable because of the possibility of future concessions.
Also, see Risk Factor entitled “We Cannot Guarantee That Our Deferred Revenue Will Be Recognized as
Planned” in item | A of this filing.

Stock-based Compensation:

On January 1, 2006, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“FAS”) No. 123 (revised
2004) (“FAS 123(R)"), “Share-based Payment.” Under FAS 123(R), we measure and record the compensation
cost of employee and director services received in exchange for stock option grants and other equity awards
based on the grani-date fair value of the awards. The values of the portions of the awards that are ultimately
expected to vest are recognized as expense over the requisite service periods. We account for stock options and
awards granted to non-employees other than directors using the fair-value method.

We adopted FAS 123(R) using the modified prospective method, pursuant to which our financial statement for
prior reporting periods have not been adjusted to include compensation cost calculated under the fair-value method.
Prior to 2006, we used the intrinsic vatue method to measure compensation expense associated with the grants of
stock options or awards to employees and directors. Under the intrinsic value method, compensation associated with
such grants and awards was determined as the excess, if any, of the current fair value of the underlying common
stock on the date of grant over the price an employee or director must pay to exercise the award.

Under the fair-value method, compensation associated with equity awards is determined based on the
estimated fair value of the award itself, measured using either current market data or an established option
pricing model. The measurement date for employee and director awards is generally the date of grant. The
measurement date for awards granted to non-employees other than directors is generally the date that
performance of certain services is complete.
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The Company’s calculations of the fair value of stock option grant, including valuations for pre-2006 pro
forma calculations, were made using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions,
and resulted in the following weighted average grant-date fair values of options granted during the years ended
December 31: '

2004 2005 2000
Risk-free interestrates . .......................... 39% 4.05-4.54% 4.6-5.05%
Expected volatility ............. ... ... ... ...... 125% 70-80% 60-70%
Expecteddividends ........... ... ... ... .. ..., 0% 0% 0%
Expectedterm (inyears) ......................... 7 6.25 2.5-10
Weighted average grant-date fair value of options
granted during the year ........................ $1.05 % 107 % 116

The Company uses historical volatility of the Company’s common stock to estimate expected volatility.
Beginning in 20035, the expected term of options granted is estimated to be equal to the average of the contractual
life of the options and the grant’s average vesting period. The risk-free interest rate is derived quarterly from the
published US Treasury yield curve, based on expected term, in effect as of the last several days of the quarter.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We record provisions for doubtful accounts based on a detailed assessment of our accounts receivable and
related credit risks. In estimating the allowance for doubtful accounts, management considers the age of the
accounts receivables, our historical write-off experience, the credit worthiness of customers and the economic
conditions of the customers’ industries and general economic conditions, among other factors. Should any of
these factors change, the estimates made by management will also change, which could affect the level of our
future provision for doubtful accounts. If the assumptions we used to calculate these estimates do not properly
reflect future collections, there could be an impact on future reported results of operations. The provisions for
doubtful accounts are included in general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of
operations.

Acquired Intangible Assets

Acquired intangible assets (excluding goodwill) are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives and reviewed for impairment on an annual basis, or on an interim basis if an event or circumstance
occurs between annual tests indicating that the assets might be impaired. The impairment test will consist of
comparing the cash flows expected to be generated by the acquired intangible asset to its carrying amount. If the
asset is considered to be impaired, an impairment loss will be recognized in an amount by which the carrying
amount of the asset exceeds its fair value.

Goodwill

Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reportable segment level using a two-step approach. The first step is
to compare the fair value of a reporting unit to its carrying amount, including goodwill. If the fair value of the
reporting unit is greater than its carrying amount, goodwill is not considered impaired and the second step is not
required. If the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, the second step of the impairment
test measures the amount of the impairment loss, if any, by comparing the implied fair value of goodwill to its
carrying amount, If the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds its implied fair value, an impairment loss is
recognized equal to that excess. The implied fair value of goodwill is calculated in the same manner that
goodwill is calculated in a business combination, whereby the fair value of the reporting unit is allocated to all of
the assets and liabilities of that unit (including any unrecognized intangible assets), with the excess “purchase
price” over the amounts assigned to assets and liabilities representing the implied fair value of goodwill,
Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually, or on an interim basis if an event occurs or circumstances
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change that would likely reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value. If the assumptions we
used to estimate fair value of goodwill change, there could be an impact on future reported results of operations.

Deferred Tax Assets

A deferred tax asset or liability is recorded for temporary differences in the bases of assets and liabilities for
book and tax purposes and loss carry forwards based on enacted tax rates expected to be in effect when these
temporary items are expected to reverse. Valuation allowances are provided to the extent it is more likely than
not that all or a portion of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

Product Indemnification

Our agreements with customers generally include certain provisions obligating us to indemnify the customer
against losses, expenses, and liabilities from damages that may be awarded against the customer in the event that
our products are found to infringe upon a patent, copyright, trademark, or other proprietary right of a third party.
The agreements generally seek to limit the scope of remedies for such indemnification obligations in a variety of
industry-standard respects, including our right to replace an infringing product. To date, we have not had to
reimburse any of our customers for any losses related to these indemnification provisions and no claims were
outstanding as of December 31, 2006, We do not expect that any significant impact on financial position or the
results of operations will result from these indemnification provisions.

Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs are charged to operations as incurred. Based on cur product development
process, technological feasibility is established upon completion of a working model. Costs incurred by the
Company between completion of the working model and the point at which the product is ready for general
release have not been material. As such, all software development costs incurred to date have been expensed as
incurred.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2006 COMPARED TO YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005
NET REVENUES

Net revenues decreased by $3.0 million, or 9.2%, to $29.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2006
from $32.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. Product revenues decreased by $2.3 million, or
37.0%, to $4.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 from the prior year, while service revenues
decreased by $676,000, or 2.6%, to $25.6 million, As indicated in the table below, the gross value of license
contracts sold during 2006 increased by 2.7% versas 2005, due primarily to an increase in the average selling
price as the number of license transactions (minimum value of $50,000) decreased from 37 to 29. However, most
of the revenue from the license transactions executed in 2006 is being deferred to future reporting periods
because 24 of the 29 license deals executed in 2006 were either accounted for as subscription arrangements or
have conditions, for example, software acceptance testing, which result in deferral of license revenue recognition.
We believe that a significant proportion of future license contracts will likewise be subscription arrangements or
will have conditions which mandate deferred revenue recognition. As a result, in future reporting periods we
expect recognized revenues to exciude much of the license revenue generated from contracts entered into in those
periods but also to include larger proportions of revenues from contracts entered into in prior reporting periods.

Reconciliation of Value of License Transactions to Reportable Product Revenue
Three months ended  Twelve months ended
December 31, December 31,
2005 2006 2005 2006
(AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

Gross value of license contracts sold:
Health and Life Sciences .............c.cviiriineinennnn, $3912  $3,789 311,442 $12435
Industry Solutions . ... .. .. .. . ... ... 155 232 2,582 1,967

4,067 4,021 14,024 14,402

Add product revenue recorded in current period from contracts sold in
prior periods:

Health and Life Sciences—subscriptions .................... 326 637 926 2,179
Health and Life Sciences—other deferrals ................... — —_ 1,476 —
Indusiry Solutions—subscriptions .. ........... ... ... L, 35 71 35 176

361 708 2,437 2,355
Less value of license contracts sold in current period and not currently

recognizable:
Hezlthand Life SClences . ...ttt 2,221 3,754 8,464 10,889
Industry Solutions ......... ... it 52 219 1,718 1,914

2,273 3973 10,182 12,803

Product revenue recorded:
Healthand Life Sciences . .......... i, 2,017 672 5,380 3,725
Industry Solutions . .............. . . . iiiiitiiiir 138 84 899 229

$2,155 % 756 §$ 6,279 $ 3,954

The above financial information is provided as additional information and is not in accordance with or an
alternative to generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP. We believe its incluston can enhance an
overall understanding of our past operational performance and also our prospects for the future. This
reconciliation of product revenues is made with the intent of providing a more complete understanding of our
sales performance, as opposed to GAAP revenue results, which do not include the impact of newly-executed
subscription agreements and other deferred revenue arrangements that are material to the ongoing performance of
our business. This information quantifies the various components comprising current revenue, which in each
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period consists of the total value of licenses sold in current periods, plus product revenue recorded in the current
period from contracts sold in prior periods, less the value of license contracts sold in the current period that is not
yet recognizable. Included in the gross value of license contracts sold amounts are license and non-cancelable
subscription fee obligations that are not currently recognizable as product revenue upon execution of the license
agreement because all the requirements for revenue recognition (see “Critical Accounting Policies—Revenue
Recognition” in this Item 7) are not present, such as the presence of extended payment terms, future software
deliverables, or customer acceptance provisions. The gross value of license contracts sold also includes amounts
that are not yet contractually billable to customers and any such unbilled amounts are not reflected in deferred
revenues on our consolidated balance sheet. Management uses this information as a basis for planning and
forecasting core business activity in future periods and believes it is useful in understanding our results of
operations. Also, payouts under our sales compensation plans and certain components of our executive bonus
plans are largely derived from the gross values of license contracts sold instead of from reported GAAP
revenues. The presentation of this additional revenue information is not meant to be considered in isolation or as
a substitute for revenues reported in accordance with GAAP in the United States. There can be no assurance that
the full value of licenses sold and deferred to future reporting periods will ultimately be recognized as revenues.

Total net revenves derived from the health and life sciences segment decreased by $2.7 million, or 11.1%, to
$21.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 from $24.6 million in the prior year. The decrease was
comprised principally of decreases in this segment’s product revenues and professional services revenues of $1.7
million, or 30.8%, and $1.7 million, or 16.1%, respectively, partially offset by an increase of $502,000, or 6.3%,
in segment maintenance and support revenues. The decrease in product revenue notwithstanding, the gross value
of license contracts sold in this segment during 2006 increased by $993,000, or 8.7%, relative to the year eariier
peried, due to a 44% increase in the average selling price partially offset by a 25% decrease in the number of
license transactions. As indicated above, subscription arrangements and other agreements with deferral
conditions constituted a significant proportion of our new license arrangements in 2006, and thus much of
revenue generated from the new licenses was deferred to future periods.

Total net revenues derived from the industry solutions segment decreased by $269,000, or 3.4%, to $7.7
million for the year ended December 31, 2006 from the prior period. Segment product revenues decreased by
$670,000, or 74.5%, to $229,000 in 2006 from $899,000 in 2005, while segment service revenues increased by
$402,000, or 5.7%, to $7.5 million in 2006 from $7.1 million in 2003, the service revenue increase being
attributable to a significant increase in hosting revenues. The decrease in product revenues was largely
attributable to nearly all product revenues in connection with 2006 license transactions in this segment having
been deferred to future periods because all significant agreements were structured as subscription arrangements
or included contractual acceptance clauses. Also, the total gross value of license contracts sold in this segment
doring 2006 decreased by $615,000, or 23.8%, versus 2005 due to decreases in both the number of license
transactions and the average selling price. Licensing activity in the industry solutions segment was negatively
affected by product defect issues in one of our key software products (see “Critical Accounting Policies—
Revenue Recognition™ in this Item 7 above) and this negative impact should continue until the software defects
are resolved, which Management anticipates will occur during the first half of 2007.

Overal] service revenues decreased by $676,000, or 2.6% to $25.6 million in the year ended December 31,
2006 versus $26.3 million in 2005. This decrease was attributable to a $1.7 million, or 16.1%, decrease in
professional services revenues in our health and life sciences segment, caused by reduced demand for consulting
services in connection with large-scale implementation projects, partiatly offset by increases of (i) $536,000, or
67.6%, in hosting revenues across both segments and (ii) $502,000, or 6.3%, in maintenance and support
revenues in our life sciences segment, which was attributable to continued growth in our maintenance-paying,
installed customer base in that segment.

OPERATING EXPENSES

COST OF THIRD PARTY TECHNOLOGY. Cost of third party technology, which consists of amounts due
to third parties for royalties related to integrated technology, has not been significant historically. Cost of third
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party technology decreased by $251,000, or 48.3%, to $269,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006 from
$520,000 in the year ended December 31, 2005. This decrease is attributable to the change in the mix of license
transactions, with fewer transactions with high content of third-party technology being executed in the current
year relative to the year earlier period.

COST OF SERVICES., Cost of services consists primarily of payroll and related costs and subcontractor
costs for providing professional services and maintenance and support services. Cost of services increased by
$2.2 million, or 14.7%, to $16.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 from $14.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2003. This increase is primarily attributable to increases of (i) $1.4 million in the cost of
consultants, resulting from the need to augment our professional services staff on certain implementation
engagements, (it} $466,000 in data center hosting fees, reflecting the increase in demand for hosting services
discussed above, and (iii) $335,000 in noncash stock compensation costs, resulting from our adoption of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004) (“FAS 123(R)”). As noted in “Critical
Accounting Policies—Revenue Recognition” in this Item 7, one of our software products has been experiencing
performance defects, and consequently we have increased outsourced staffing on certain implementation
engagements without a corresponding increase in revenue. Largely as a consequence of this increase in
nonbillable implementation services, cost of services increased significantly to 66.1% for the year ended
December 31, 2006 from 56.1% for the year ended December 31, 2005 as a percentage of service revenues,

AMORTIZATION OF OTHER ACQUIRED INTANGIBLE ASSETS. Amortization of acquired intangible
assets related to our acquisitions amounted to $482,000 in the year ended December 31, 2006, which represents a
$902,000, or 65%, decrease in amortization from the year earlier period. This decrease is attributable to the
intangible assets in connection with the acquisitions of NetReturn, LLC and Menerva Technologies, Inc.
becoming fully-amortized during the first quarter of 2006.

SALES AND MARKETING. Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of payroll and related benefits
for sales and marketing personnel, commissions for sales personnel, travel costs, recruiting fees, expenses for
trade shows and advertising and public relations expenses. Sales and marketing expense increased by $697,000,
or 3.1%, to $9.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2006 from $8.6 million in the year ended December 31,
2005. This increase is primarily attributable to increases of (i) $227,000 in marketing-related consulting fees,

(i) $187,000 in noncash stock compensation costs, resulting from our adoption of FAS 123(R), and

(iii) $183,000 in commission costs, resulting primarily from draw payments instituted as part of a sales staff
retention plan. As a percentage of total net revenues, sales and marketing expense increased to 31.5% in 2006
versus 26.5% in 2005.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT. Research and development expenses consist primarily of payroll and
related costs for development personnel and external consulting costs associated with the development and
maintenance of our products. Research and development costs, including the costs of developing computer
software, are charged to operations as they are incurred. Research and development expenses increased by $1.3
million, or 11.7%, to $12.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 from $11.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2005. This increase was principally comprised of increases of (i} $1.3 million in consulting costs,
{i1) $285,000 in salary and related costs, resulting from an increase in average headcount of 4 employees, and
(iii) $217,000 in noncash stock compensation costs, resulting from our adoption of FAS 123(R), partially offset
by $513,000 in funded development credits. The increase in consulting and salary-related costs is largely
attributable to our efforts to resolve product defect issues in one of our key software products (see “Critical
Accounting Policies—Revenue Recognition” in this Item 7 above) and is also the result of our ramping up
resources for the development of next generation products for our health and life sciences segment.
Consequently, research and development expense increased significantly to 42.6% in 2006 versus 34.6% in 2005
as a percentage of total net revenues.

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE. General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salartes
and related costs for personnel in our administrative, finance, legal and human resources departments, insurance
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costs, and legal, accounting and other professional service fees. General and administrative expenses increased
by $630,000, or 13.1%, to $5.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 from $4.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2005. This increase in general and administrative expenses was principally attributable to a
$559,000 increase in noncash stock compensation costs, resulting primarily from the adoption of FAS 123(R). As
a percentage of total net revenues, general and administrative expenses increased to 18.4% for the year ended
December 31, 2006 from 14.8% for the year ended December 31, 2005,

DEPRECIATICON. Depreciation expense increased by $28,000, or 4%, to $824,000 in the year ended
December 31, 2006 from $796,000 in the year ended December 31, 2005. This increase is principally attributable
1o an increase in the ieve] of furniture, equipment and software additions to $974,000 in 2006 as compared to
annual average additions of $677,000 for the years 2003 through 2005.

RESTRUCTURING AND OTHER CHARGES. In the year ended December 31, 2006, we recorded
$103,000 in charges related to efforts in prior quarters to streamline operations. This charge represents the
amortization of the discount incorporated in the initial restructuring provisions for future lease costs in
connection with the Chicago and London office downsizings, which occurred in 2003. In the year ended
December 31, 2005, we recorded $10,000 in credits related to efforts in prior years to streamline operations.

OTHER INCOME, NET

Other income, net, increased by $300,000, or 105%, to $585,000 in the year ended December 31, 2005
relative to $285,000 in 2005. This increase was principally comprised of a $194,000 increase in interest income,
attributable to significantly higher average yields, and a $101,000 decrease in foreign currency transaction losses.

INCOME TAXES

We incurred operating losses for all quarters in 2006 and 2005 and have consequently recorded a valuation
allowance for the full amount of our net deferred tax asset, which consists principally of our net operating loss
carryforwards. No provision or benefit for income taxes was recorded for the years ended December 31, 2006
and 2005,

26



YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005 COMPARED TO YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004
NET REVENUES

Net revenues decreased by $5.8 million, or 15.2%, to $32.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2005
from $38.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. Product revenues decreased by $5.0 million, or
44.3%, to $6.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 from the prior year, while service revenues
decreased by $841,000, or 3.1%, to $26.3 million. As indicated in the table below, the gross value of license
contracts sold during 2005 increased by 10.7% versus 2004, due primarily to an increase in the average selling
price as the number of license transactions (minimum value of $50,000) decreased from 40 to 37. However,
much of the revenue from the license transactions executed in 2005 was deferred to future reporting periods.

Reconciliation of Value of License Transactions to Reportable Product Revenue

Three months ended  Twelve months ended

December 31, Drecember 31,
2004 2005 2004 2005
(AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)
Gross value of license contracts sold:
Healthand Life Sciences .......cvt vt ie e $4,204 $3912 $ 9,122 §$11,442
Industry SOlutions ... ........uretii i 1,859 155 3,552 2,582

6,063 4,067 12,674 14,024
Add product revenue recorded in current period from contracts sold in
prior periods:

Health and Life Sciences—subscriptions .................... 69 326 102 926
Health and Life Sciences—other deferrals ................... 289 — 3,428 1,476
Industry Solutions—subscriptions .. ............. ... ... o — 35 — 35
Industry Solutions—other deferrals . ..................... ... — — 794 —

358 361 4,324 2,437
Less value of license contracts sold in current period and not currently

recognizable:
Health and Life Sciences . ......... ... 3,120 2,221 4,567 8,464
Industry Solutions ............ . ... .. .. o il 366 52 1,156 1,718

3,486 2,273 5,723 10,182

Product revenue recorded:
Health and Life Sciences .. ... i iiiii i ieer i aieaanes 1,442 2,017 8,085 5,380
Industry Solutions . ...... .. ... . i 1,493 138 3,190 899

$2935 $2,155 $11,275 $ 6,279

The above financial information is provided as additional information and is not in accordance with or an
alternative to generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP. See discussion following the reconciliation
table in “Results of Operations—Year Ended December 31, 2006 Compared to Year Ended December 31,
2005—Net Revenues” in this Item 7.

Total net revenues derived from the industry solutions segment decreased by $2.5 million, or 24.2%, to $8.0
million for the year ended December 31, 2005 from the year ended December 31, 2004, Nearly all of this
decrease is attributable to a reduction in license revenue as service revenues in this segment decreased by only
$249,000, or 3.4%, relative to 2004. As indicated in the above table, the gross value of license contracts sold in
this segment during 2005 decreased by $970,000, or 27.3%, relative 10 2004. We believe this decrease in license
sales was primarily attributable to a significant drop off in sales execution in the fourth quarter of 2005 relative to
the three prior quarters of 2005 and did not indicate a market trend. In 2005, we also deferred license and service
revenues from certain customers with especially complex implementations of these new products.
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Total net revenues derived from the health and life sciences segment decreased by $3.3 million, or 11.8%, to
$24.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 from $27.9 million in the prior year. Decreases in this
segment’s product revenues and professional services revenues of $2.7 million and $1.1 million, respectively,
were partially offset by a $493,000 increase in maintenance and support revenues. As indicated in the table
above, the gross value of license contracts sold in this segment during 2005 increased by $2.3 million, or 25.4%,
relative to 2004, aithough this increase was not reflected in revenues because of the deferral of much of the
current year’s transactions license revenue o future periods.

Qverall service revenues decreased by $841,000, or 3.19% to §26.3 million in the year ended December 31,
2005 versus $27.1 million in 2004. This decrease was attributable to a $1.7 million, or 11.2%, decrease in
professional services revenues, caused by reduced demand for consulting services, primarily in the health and life
sciences segment, partially offset by a $795,000, or 7.2%, increase in maintenance and support revenues, which
was attributable to continued growth in our maintenance-paying, installed customer base across both segments,

OPERATING EXPENSES

COST OF THIRD PARTY TECHNOLOGY. Cost of third party technology increased by $62,000, or
13.5%, to $520,000 for the year ended December 31, 2005 from $458,000 in the year ended December 31, 2004.
This increase was attributable to higher sales of ContractManager and ComplianceManager, which incorporate
third-party technology.

COST OF SERVICES. Cost of services decreased by $343,000, or 2.3%, to $14.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2005 from $15.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. A decrease in non-cash stock
compensation costs of $767,000 was partially offset by a $584,000 increases in salaries and related costs. The
decrease in non-cash compensation costs resulted from non-qualified option grants, which had an exercise price
that was below market value at the time of grant, becoming fully-vested during the fourth quarter of 2004, The
increase in salaries and related costs was attributable to annual merit increases and an increase in aggregate
technical support and professional services headcount from an average of 78 during 2004 to an average of 80
during 2005. As a percentage of service revenues, cost of services increased slightly to 56.1% for the year ended
December 31, 2005 from 55.7% for the year ended December 31, 2004.

AMORTIZATION OF OTHER ACQUIRED INTANGIBLE ASSETS. Amortization of acquired intangible
assets related to our acquisitions amounted to $1.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2005, which
represents a 381,000, or 6%, decrease in amortization from the year earlier period. The decrease in amortization
was altributable to the acquired intangible assets in connection with the acquisition of Vintage Software, Inc,
becoming fully-amortized during the first quarter of 2005, partially offset by an increase attributable to the
acquisition of Pricing Analytics, Inc. in April 2004,

SALES AND MARKETING. Sales and marketing expense decreased by $394,000, or 4.4%, 1o $3.6 million
in the year ended December 31, 2005 from $9.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2004. A $309,000
decrease in salaries, commissions and related costs, attributable to a 2.5 person reduction in average sales and
marketing headcount during 2003, and a $266,000 reduction in noncash compensation costs, attributable to
non-qualified option grants becoming fully-vested during the fourth quarter of 2004, was partially offset by
increases in consulting and marketing promotion costs of $30,000 and $103,000, respectively. As a percentage of
total net revenues, sales and marketing expense increased to 26.5% in 2005 versus 23.5% in 2004.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT. Research and development expenses decreased by $607,000, or
5.1%, to $11.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 from $11.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004. A $1.1 million reduction in noncash compensation costs, attributable to non-qualified option
grants becoming fully-vested during the fourth quarter of 2004 and first quarter of 2005, and a $140,000 decrease
in recruiting and miscellaneous office expenses was partially offset by an $866,000 increase in consulting
expenses, reflecting an increase in the level of outsourcing of development work to offshore resources. As a
percentage of total net revenues, research and development expense increased to 34.6% for the year ended
December 31, 2005 from 30.9% for the year ended December 31, 2004,
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GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE. General and administrative expenses decreased by $733,000, or
13.2%, to $4.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 from $5.6 million for the year ended December 31,
2004. This decrease in general and administrative expenses consisted principally of a $687,004 reduction in
noncash compensation costs, attributable to non-qualified stock option grants to employees becoming tully-
vested during the fourth quarter of 2004 and first quarter of 20035, and a $390,000 reduction in costs incurred in
connection with the proposed merger with Selectica, partially offset by $207,000 in severance and benefit costs
incurred in connection with the August 2005 resignation of our former chief executive officer. As a percentage of
total net revenues, general and administrative expenses increased slightly to 14.8% for the year ended
December 31, 2005 from 14.5% for the year ended December 31, 2004.

DEPRECIATION, Depreciation expense decreased by $121,000, or 13.2%, to $796,000 in the year ended
December 31, 2005 from $917,000 in the year ended December 31, 2004, This decrease was principally
attributable to a significant drop-off in the level of furniture, equipment and software additions from the years
2001 ($1.8 million} and 2002 ($933,000) to the years 2004 ($698,000) and 2005 ($684,000), the majority of
these asset additions being depreciated over a three-year life.

RESTRUCTURING AND OTHER CHARGES. In the year ended December 31, 2003, we recorded
$10,000 in credits related to efforts in prior years to streamline operations. These credits resulted from reductions
in the provisions for future lease costs for the Chicago and London offices. During the year ended December 31,
2004, in connection with the reduction of our leased space in London, England and the significant reduction in
our Portland, Maine operation, as part of our efforts to reduce operating expenses and consoliclate operations, we
wrote off $692,000 in future lease obligations and recognized $267,000 in equipment impairment charges. Also,
we incurred severance costs of $284,000 for employees whose employment was terminated during 2004 as part
of this downsizing effort and incurred $103,000 in ongoing restructuring charges related to the Chicago, Illinois
office that was closed in 2003,

OTHER INCOME, NET

Other income, net, increased by $41,000, or 16.8%, from $244,000 in the year ended December 31, 2004, to
$285,000 in the year ended December 31, 2005, A $185,000 increase in interest income, attributable to
significantly higher average yields, and $23,000 decrease in interest expense was partially offset by increases in
state franchise taxes and foreign currency losses of $86,000 and $82,000, respectively. We have not, in the past,
hedged against risks related to foreign currency changes, and do not currently do so.

INCOME TAXES

In 2004, we recorded an $82,000 benefit arising from a refund related to the carry back of an operating loss
to a pre-acquisition fiscal period for our subsidiary based in the United Kingdom. Other than this carry back
benefit, we incurred operating losses for all quarters in 2005 and 2004 and have consequently recorded a
valuation allowance for the full amount of our net deferred tax asset, which consists principally of our net
operating loss carryforwards. No provision or benefit for income taxes was recorded for the year ended
December 31, 2005.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

On November 6, 2006, we completed a private placement of our common stock and warrants, which
resulted in our receipt of approximately $6.5 million in net proceeds. (See Note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.)

In 2006, we entered into several capital lease financing arrangements with different financial institutions in
order to finance the purchase of $425,000 in computer equipment and related services. In 2004 and 2005, the
amounts financed in capital lease arrangements amounted to $-0- and $25,000, respectively.
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At December 31, 2006, we had cash and cash equivalents of $17.2 million, as compared to cash and cash
equivalents of $16.8 million at December 31, 2005. Also at December 31, 2006, we had no long-term or short-
term debt, other than obligations under capital lease financings. The current and non-current restricted cash
balances of $80,000 and $427,000, respectively, at December 31, 2006 represent cash amounts held on deposit as
security on two long-term real property lease obligations.

Net cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2006 was $6.5 million, as compared to
net cash used in operating activities of $4.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2005. For the vear ended
December 31, 2006, net cash used in operating activities consisted principally of our net loss of $15.8 million—as
reduced by non-cash items depreciation and amortization of $1.3 million and stock-based compensation of $1.5
million, partially offset by increases in deferred revenue and accounts payable of $3.6 million and $1.0 million,
respectively, and a $1.4 million decrease in accounts receivable. The increase in deferred revenue is mostly
attributable to (i) a $1.9 million increase in license fee and services deferrals, resulting from increased prevatence of
contractual customer acceptance clauses in license agreements and to the software performance-related deferrals
noted in “Critical Accounting Policies—Revenue Recognition” in this Ttem 7, (ii} a $710,000 increase in deferred
subscription fees, which is a result of the increased popularity of subscription license arrangements, and (iii) a
$667,000 increase in deferred maintenance and support revenue, which is largely attributable to delayed recognition
of maintenance and support renewals for customers with certain rights to future versions of our products. The
increase in accounts payable was largely the result of the timing of payments, the balance at December 31, 2006
being unusually high relative to prior quarters. The decrease in accounts receivable was principally attributable to a
$1.3 million decrease in the value of non-subscription license agreements executed during the quarter ended
December 31, 2006 versus the quarter ended December 31, 2005.

For the year ended December 31, 2005, net cash used in operating activities consisted principally of (i) the
net foss of $9.3 million, as offset by non-cash items depreciation and amortization of $2.2 million and noncash
stock-based compensation of $166,000, (ii) a decrease in accounts payable of $852,000, and (iii) an increase in
prepaid expenses of $327,000, partially offset by a $3.2 million increase in deferred revenue. The decrease in
accounts payable was largely the result of the timing of payments, the balance at December 31, 2004 being
unusually high relative to prior and subsequent quarters. The increase in prepaid expenses was primarily
attributable to $755,000 in advance royalty payments to third-party software developers during 2005, a portion of
which has since been amortized into expense. The $3.2 million increase in deferred revenue is primarily
attributable to the net increase in the cumulative value of deferred license transactions, as documented in the
table entitled “Reconciliation of Value of License Transactions to Reportable Product Revenue” included in the
discussion of 2005 Net Revenues in this Item 7.

Net cash used in investing activities was $501,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006 as compared to
net cash provided by investing activities of $14.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. Net cash used in
investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2006 consisted principally of $549,000 in purchases of
property and equipment. Net cash provided by investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2005
consisted of $14.6 million in net redemptions of short-term investments and available for sale securities, partially
offset by $659,000 in property and equipment additions and $248,000 in merger consideration paid in connection
with the Pricing Analytics acquisition.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $7.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2006, principatly
comprised of $6.5 million in net proceeds from a private placement sale of common stock and $756,000 in
proceeds from warrant and stock option exercises, as compared to $1.5 million in the year ended December 31,
2005, which consisted primarily of $600,000 in proceeds from warrant exercises and $877,000 in proceeds from
stock option exercises.

We currently anticipate that our cash and cash equivalents of $17.2 million will be sufficient to meet our

anticipated needs for working capital, capital expenditures, and acquisitions for at least the next 12 months. Our
future long-term capital needs will depend significantly on the rate of growth of our business, our rate of loss, the
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mix of subscription licensing arrangements versus perpetual licenses sold, possible acquisitions, the timing of
expanded product offerings and the success of these offerings if and when they are launched. Accordingly, any
projections of future long-term cash needs and cash flows are subject to substantial uncertainty. If our current
balance of cash and cash equivalents is insufficient to satisfy our long-term liquidity needs, we may seek to sell
additional equity or debt securities to raise funds, and those securities may have rights, preferences or privileges
senior to those of the rights of our common stock. In connection with a sale of stock, our stockholders would
experience dilution. In addition, we cannot be certain that additional financing will be available to us on
favorable terms when required, or at all. Also, our stock price may make it difficult for us to raise additional
equity financing.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS—As of December 31, 2006

Payments due by Period—Amounts in $000s

Less than More than
Total 1 year 1-3 years  3-5 years 5 years
Capital Lease Obligations .................coveve.... $ 445 % 185 § 260 § — $—
Operating Leases . ...... . ... i, 6,303 1,797 2,965 1,541 —
Total Contractual Obligations ......................... $6,748 51,982 $3,225 $1,541 —

Note: Capital Lease Obligations amounts in the above table include interest.

ITEM 7A.QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
INTEREST RATE RISK

Our exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to our investment portfolic. We do
not use derivative financial instruments in our investment portfolio. The primary objective of our investment
activities is to preserve principal while maximizing yields without assuming significant risk. This is
accomplished by investing in diversified investments, consisting primarily of short-term investment-grade
securities. Due to the nature of our investments, we believe there is no material risk exposure. A 10% change in
interest rates, either positive or negative, would not have had a significant effect on either (i) our cash flows and
reported net losses in the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, or (ii} the fair value of our investment
portfolio at December 31, 2005 and 2006.

As of December 31, 2005 and 2006, our cash and cash equivalents consisted entirely of money market
investments with remaining maturities of 90 days or less when purchased and non-interest bearing checking
accounts. Investments in marketable debt securities with maturities greater than 90 days and less than one year
are classified as held-to-maturity short-term investmenis and are recorded at amortized cost. Under current
investment guidelines, maturities on short-term investments are restricted to one year or less. At December 31,
2005 and 2006, we held no such short-term investments. Investments in auction rate securities, with maturities
which can be greater than one year but for which interest rates reset in less than 90 days, are classified as
available for sale securities and have been stated at fair market value. At December 31, 2005 and 2006, we held
no auction rate certificates, having disposed of all our previous holdings in such investments during 2005.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXCHANGE RISK

We operate in certain foreign locations, where the currency used is not the U.S. dollar. However, these
locations have not been, and are not currently expected to be, significant to our consolidated financial statements.
Changes in exchange rates have not had a material effect on our business.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
I-Many, Inc.
Edison, New Jersey

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of I-Many, Inc. as of December 31, 2006
and 20035 and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash tlows for each of
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our
andits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
stalement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financtal statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of I-Many, Inc. at December 31, 2006 and 20035, and the results of its operations and its
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006, in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the effectiveness of [-Many, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
20006, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) and our report dated March 16, 2007 expressed
an unqualified opinion thereon.

As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, as of January 1, 2006 the Company adopted SFAS 123R
“Share Based Payment” changing their previous method of recording compensation costs related to equity
awards.

/s/ BDO Seidman, LLP

BDO Seidman, LLLP
Woodbridge, New Jersey

March 16, 2007
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I-MANY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share-related information)

December 31,
2005 2006
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cashand cashequivalents . ........ ... ... ... . ... .. ciiiiiiiiiiiiinnnn. $ 16805 % 17232
Restricted cash .. ... . .. e _— 80
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $525 and $137 in 2005 and 2006,
TESPECHIVELY .. o e s 9,577 8,120
Prepaid expenses and other currentassets ............. ... .. .. it 845 766
Total CUrrent assets ... ..ottt it i i e e 27,227 26,198
Property and equipment, NEL . ... ... . i e e e e 1,188 . 1,341
Restricted cash .. ... ... ... e 535 427
OtheT A88ELS « . . .o 122 121
Acquired intangible assets,net .. ... .. L. e 713 231
Goodwill ..o e e e e e, 8,667 8,667
TOtAl ASSEIS « . v v vttt ettt e ettt $ 38472 3 36985
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
ACCOUNTS PAYADIE ... e e $ 1,520 § 2,549
ACCIUBA BXPEIMSES . .. ittt ittt it it e e e 4,098 4,675
Current portion of deferred revenue . ... ... ... i i i i 12,194 15,773
Current portion of capital lease obligations ................... ... ... ..... 8 154
Total current Habilities . ... ...ttt i e e e 17,820 23,151
Deferred revenue, net of cutrent portion ......... ... it i 1,242 1,256
Capital lease obligations, net of current portion . ... ... . ... ... ... .. 13 240
Other long-term liabilities .. ... . ... ... .. . . .. i i i 1,041 884

|
| Total Babilities - . .- v oo oo e 20,116 25,531
|
|

Commitments and contingencies (Note 7)

Series A redeemable convertible preferred stock, $.01 par value
Designated—1,700 shares
Issued and outstanding—nRoONe .. ... ... cv i e e — —
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $.01 par value
Authorized—35,000,000 shares; designated—1§,700 shares
Issued and outstanding—none ........... .. . ... .o, — —
Common stock, $.0001 par value
Authorized—100,000,000 shares
Issued and outstanding—46,823,585 and 51,718,992 shares in 2005 and

2006, respectively . ... ... 5 5

Additional paid-incapital ....... ... .. . . 152,767 161,690
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) ............. ... ... ....... 4 (6)
Accumulated deficit ... .. . ... e e e (134,420) (150,235)
Total stockholders’ equity . ..... ... .. ... 18,356 11,454
Total liabilities and stockholders” equity .......... ... ... ... .. ... $ 38472 § 36985

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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I-MANY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per-share amounts)

Year ended December 31,

2004 2005 2006
Net Revenues:
Product ... e e e e $11,275 56,279 § 3954
VL . . i e e 27,138 26,297 25,621
Total net reVenUes . ... ottt e s 38,413 32,576 29,575
Operating expenses: -
Cost of third-party technology .. ...... .. ... ... ... ... . ... ... ...... 458 520 269
Costof services(l) ... ot e 15,107 14,764 16,940
Amortization of acquired intangible assets . .......... ... ... ... 1,465 1,384 482
Sales and marketing(1) .. ... ... e 9,020 8,626 9,323
Research and development(1) .. ... .. ... ... . . . . . i, 11,874 11,267 12,585
General and administrative(l) .. ... ... . . . . . 5,552 4,819 5,449
Deprectation . ... ... oot e 917 796 824
In-process research and development . ........... ... .. ... ... ...... 290 — —
Restructuring and other charges (credits) . ... ..o, 1,346 (10) 103
Total operating eXpenses . .. . ...ttt e 46,029 42,166 45,975
Loss from Operations . . . ... ... .t e e (7,616) (9,590) (16,400)
Other INCOME, MEL . ... it ettt aenas 244 285 585
Loss before inCOme taXes . ...ttt e e (7.372)  (9,305) (15,815
Benefit from inComMe aXes . ...ttt e ettt e e (82) — —
NEEIOSS .+ v\ttt ettt ettt et ettt e e $(7,290) $(9.305) $(15,815)
Basic and diluted net loss per common share ... ... ... ... ... .......... $ (018 § 0.21) $ (0.33)
Weighted average shares outstanding . ... .. ... ... . .. ... 41,367 44,548 47,782
(1) Stock-based compensation amounts included above:
0SB BEIVICES ottt ittt i e e e $ 791 § 24 § 358
Salesand marketing ... ... ... . . . . . .. i e e 269 3 190
Research and development .. ... ... ... .. .. .. .. ... ... ... . ... ..... 1,219 76 300
General and adminisStrative .. ..., ... .. it e e 750 63 635

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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I-MANY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)
Year Ended December 31,
2004 2005 2006
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net lo8s ..t e e 5 (7,290) 5(9,305) $(15,815)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amorfization ...............0 i ..., 2,382 2,180 1,306
In-process research and development . ......................... 290 — —
Provision for restructuring and other charges (credits) . ..........., 1,346 (1) 103
Amortization of deferred stock-based compensation ............ ., 3,029 166 1,483
Provision for doubtful accounts . ... ....... ... . .o oL 220 150 —
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:
Accountsreceivable .. ... ... .. 93 178 1,450
Prepaid expense and other current assets ................... 301 {327) 79
Accounts payable . ... ... . &89 (852) 1,029
Accrued BXpenses . ... ...l e, (2,861) (123) 332
Deferredrevenue . ...t i e (746) 3,186 3,593
Deferredrent . ... ..ot e e 30 21) (19}
Other assets ... .o i 163 (2) (1}
Net cash used in operating activities . .................. (2,340)  (4,780)  (6,460)
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Purchases of property andequipment .................... ... ... .... {698) (659) {549)
Proceeds from disposition of property and equipment ................. 37 — —
Cash paid to acquire Pricing Analytics, Inc. ......................... (882) (248) —
Decrease inrestricted cash . . ... ... . e 424 269 48
Purchases of short-term investments and available for sale secunities .. ... (17,791) (2,694) —
Redemptions of short-term investments and available for sale securities . . . 18,150 17,304 —
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities ........ 760y 13,972 (301)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Net proceeds from private placement of commonstock ................ — — 6,523
Payments on capital lease obligations .............................. 677 (164) (52)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options .......... ... ... . ......... 479 8717 456
Proceeds from exercise of common stock warrant .................... 300 600 300
Proceeds from Employee Stock Purchase Plan ....................... 182 202 161
Net cash provided by financing activities ............... 284 1,515 7,388
Net increase {decrease) in cash and cash equivalents . ..................... {2,816) 10,707 427
Cash and cash equivalents, beginningof year . ... .. ... .. .. ... ..., 8,914 6,098 16,803
Cash and cash equivalents,endof year . ............................ $ 6,098 $16,805 $ 17,232

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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I-MANY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)
(continued)
Year Ended December 31,
2004 2005 2006
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information:
Cash paid forinterest . . ... e $3 $ 7 $14
Cash refunded forincome taxes .. ... .. . it $82 33— $—
Supplemental Disclosure of Non-cash Activities:
Cash consideration payable to former sharcholders of Pricing Analytics, Inc. ... $248  $— $—
Property and equipment acquired under capital leases ..................... $— $25 3425

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(1) Operations and Significant Accounting Policies

E-many, Inc. (the “Company”) provides software solutions and related professional services that allow
customers to manage their contract-based, business-to-business relationships through the entirety of the contract
management lifecycle. Historically, the Company’s primary customer base has included parties involved in the
sale and distribution of pharmaceutical and other healthcare products, including manufacturers, purchasers,
groups of purchasers and distributors. The Company has since expanded the market reach of its product
offerings, with customers in the consumer products, foodservice, and other industries,

{a) Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the acconnts of the Company and its wholly owned
subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation,

(b) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could
differ from those estimates. Major assets and liabilities that are subject to estimates include allowance for
doubtful accounts, goodwill and other acquired intangible assets, deferred tax assets and certain accrued and
contingent liabilities.

(c) Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with Statement of Position (SOP) 97-2, “Software Revenue
Recognition,” and SOP 98-9, “Software Revenue Recognition, with Respect to Certain Arrangements.” Software
license fees are recognized upon execution of a signed license agreement and delivery of the software to
customers, provided there are no significant post-delivery obligations, the payment is fixed or determinable and
collection is probable. In multiple-element arrangements, a portion of the total fee is allocated to the undelivered
professional services, training and maintenance and support services based on the fair value of those elements,
which is defined as the price charged when those elements are sold separately. The residual amount is then
allocated to the software license fee. In cases where the Company agrees to deliver unspecified additional
products in the future, the license fee is recognized ratably over the term of the arrangement beginning with the
delivery of the first product. In cases where the Company agrees to deliver specified additional products or
upgrades in the future, recognition of the entire license fee, including any related maintenance and support fees,
is deferred until after the specified additional products or upgrades are delivered and made generally available to
all customers. If an acceptance period is required, revenues are deferred until customer acceptance. In cases
where collection is not deemed probable, we recognize the license fee as payments are received. In cases where
significant production or customization is required prior to attaining technological feasibility of the software,
license fees are recognized on a percentage-of-completion basis and are credited to research and development
expenses as a funded development arrangement. After the software attains technological feasibility, recognizable
license fees are reported as product revenue.

Service revenues include professional services, training, maintenance and support services and reimbursable
out-of-pocket expenses. Professional service revenues are recognized as the services are performed. If conditions
for acceptance exist, professional service revenues are recognized upon customer acceptance. For fixed fee
professional service contracts, anticipated losses are provided for in the period in which the loss is probable and
can be reasonably estimated. Training revenues are recognized as the services are provided. Included in training
revenues are registration fees received from participants in the Company’s off-site user training conferences.
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Maintenance and support fees are recognized ratably over the term of the service period, which is generally
twelve months. When maintenance and support is included in the total license fee, a portion of the total fee is
allocated to maintenance and support based upon the price paid by the customer when sold separately, generally
as renewals in the second year.

Payments received from customers at the inception of a maintenance period are treated as deferred service
revenues and recognized ratably over the maintenance period. Payments received from customers in advance of
product shipment or revenue recognition are treated as deferred revenues and recognized when the product is
shipped to the customer or when otherwise earned.

Current and prospective customers have the option of entering into a subscription agreement as an
alternative to the Company’s standard license contract model. The standard subscription arrangement is presently
a fixed fee agreement over three or more years, covering license fees, unspecified new product releases and
maintenance and support, generally payable in equal quarterly installments commencing upon execution of the
agreement. In most agreements that have been executed to date, the subscription arrangement converts
free-of-charge to a perpetual license after the completion of the initial term plus any extensions, generally after
five years, after which time the customer would have the option of paying for the continuation of maintenance
and support. The Company recognizes all revenue from subscription based arrangements ratably over the term of
the subscription agreement commencing upon delivery of the initial product, Subscription installment amounts
that are not yet contractually billable to customers are not reflected in deferred revenues on the Company’s
consolidated balance sheet, A portion of the periodic subscription fee revenue, generally 13 to 17 percent, is
allocated 1o service revenue based on the relationship of the Company’s standard annual maintenance and
support renewal rates to the related perpetual license fees, with the balance of the subscription fee revenue
classified as product revenue in the accompanying financial statements.

During the third quarter of 2005, the Company became aware of certain defects in the current version of one
of its software products, which was first shipped to customers in the fourth quarter of 2004. These defects, which
were not identified in pre-release product testing, affected the performance of the software for a portion of the
Company’s customers depending on each customer’s particular implementation environment and its intended use
of the software. Because certain concessions have been made to customers in connection with these defects, the
Company has generally not recognized revenue from sales of this software product and related implementation
services beginning in the third quarter of 2003, except in those cases in which it was determined that the
customer was not likely to be affected by the known, unresolved software defects. During 2006, new versions of
the software were released, but problems continued to occur with implementations at several customer sites. In
the first quarter of 2007, the Company plans to complete development of a major new release of the software
which has been designed to resolve known performance defects with minimal additional functionality. The
Company intends to continue deferring revenue in connection with license sales, maintenance and support, and
implementation services for this software product until it has been demonstrated at multiple customer sites that
the new release of the software is free of significant performance defects. As of December 31, 2005 and 2006,
the Company has reversed and deferred cumulative amounts of $1.6 million and $3.5 million, respectively, of
otherwise-recognizable product and service revenue, based in part on its estimate of the fair value of concessions
to be made until the remaining defect is resolved, and partly on its determination that license fees were not fixed
and determinable because of the possibility of future concessions.

(d) Product Indemnification

The Company’s agreements with customers generally include certain provisions for indemnifying the customer
against losses, expenses, and liabilities from damages that may be awarded against the customer in the event that the
Company’s products are found to infringe upon a patent, copyright, trademark, or other proprietary right of a third
party. The agreements generally limit the scope of remedies for such indemnification obligations in a variety of
industry-standard respects, including the Company’s right to replace an infringing product. To date, the Company
has not had to reimburse any of its customers for any losses related to these indemnification provisions and no
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claims were outstanding as of December 31, 2005 and 2006. The Company does not expect that any significant
impact on financial position or the results of operations will result from these indemnification provisicns.

(e) Goodwill

Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reportable segment level using a two-step approach. The first step
compares the fair value of a reporting unit to its carrying amount, including goodwill. If the fair value of the
reporting unit is greater than its carrying amount, goodwill is not considered impaired and the second step is not
required. If the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, the second step of the impairment
test measures the amount of the impairment loss, if any, by comparing the implied fair value of goodwill to its
carrying amount. If the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds its implied fair value, an impairment loss is
recognized equatl to that excess. The implied fair value of goodwill is calculated in the same manner that
goodwill is calculated in a business combination, whereby the fair value of the reporting unit is allocated to all of
the assets and liabilities of that unit (including any unrecognized intangible assets), with the excess purchase
price over the amounts assigned to assets and labilities representing the implied fair value of goodwill. Goodwill
is tested for impairment at least annually, or on an interim basis if an event occurs or circumstances change that
would likely reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value.

() Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cdsh

The Company considers all highly liquid securities with remaining maturities of 90 days or less when
purchased to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are stated at cost, which approximates fair value, and
primarily consist of money market funds and overnight investments that are readily convertible to cash.
Restricted cash comprises amounts held in deposits that were required as collateral under various capital lease
financing arrangements, the lease of office space in the Company’s London office, and the sublease of unused
office space in the Company’s former Chicago office.

(g) Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation and amortization are computed using the straight-
line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which are indicated in the table below. Repair and
maintenance costs are expensed as incurred.

Estimated Useful

Description __[.ives
Computer SOftWAare . ... ... i i e 3 years
Computer hardware . ....... ... . . . . i e 3 years
Furniture and equipment . ...... ... .. ... .. i 5-7 years
Leasehold improvements ......... ...t eiintninernnnnnnnn, 5 years *
Developed technology . ...t i i 4 years

* 1 easehold improvements are amortized over the asset’s estimated usefut life or lease term, whichever is less.

(h) Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment on an annual basis, or on an interim basis if an event or
circumstance occurs between annual tests indicating that the assets might be impaired. The impairment test
consists of comparing the asset’s carrying amount to the related undiscounted future cash flows. If the fair value
is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to that difference.

(i) Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs are charged to operations as incurred. Based on the Company’s product
development process, technological feasibility is established upon completion of a working model. Costs
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incurred by the Company between completion of the working model and the point at which the product is ready
for general release have not been material. As such, all software development costs incurred to date have been
expensed as incurred.

{j) Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use

Costs incurred for internal-use software during the preliminary project stage and costs incurred for data
conversion, training and maintenance are expensed as incurred. Once the preliminary project stage is completed,
external direct costs incurred during the application development stage are capitalized and amortized over the
estimated useful life of the asset. There were no costs incurred for internal-use software during the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006.

(k} Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially expose the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist of cash
equivalents and accounts receivable. The Company believes the concentration of credit risk with respect to cash
equivalents is limited because the Company places its investments in highly-rated financial institutions.
Concentration of credit risk with respect to accounts receivable is limited to certain customers to whom the
Company makes substantial sales. The Company generally requires no collateral. To reduce risk, the Company
routinely assesses the financial strength of its customers and, as a consequence, believes that its accounts
receivable credit risk exposure is limited. The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts and
estimated losses but historically has not experienced any significant losses related to individual customers or
groups of customers in any particular industry or geographic area.

The Company had certain customers whose accounts receivable balances, including unbilled receivables,
individually represented 10% or more of the Company’s total accounts receivable, as follows:

At December 31,

2005 2006
ORI 00 )11 U= o = N 11% *
Customer B . ... e e e * 12%

The Company had one customer whose revenues represented a significant percentage of total net revenues,
as foilows:

Year ended December 31,
2004 2005 2006

1T (o) 01 7<) o A 21% * *

* Less than 10% of the Company's total.

(1) Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of the Company’s financial instruments, including its cash and cash equivalents,
short-term investments and available for sale securities, restricted cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable,
accrued expenses, deferred revenue and capital lease obligations approximate their fair value due to the relatively
short-term nature of these instruments.

{m) Net Loss per Share

Basic and diluted net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss available to common stockholders
for the period by the weighted average basic and diluted number of shares of common stock outstanding during
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the period. The calculation of basic weighted average shares outstanding excludes unvested restricted common
stock that is subject to repurchase by the Company. For periods in which a net loss has been incurred, the
calculation of diluted net loss per share excludes potential common stock, as their effect is antidilutive. Potential
common stock includes (i) incremental shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of outstanding stock
options and warrants calculated using the treasury stock method and (ii) unvested restricted coramon stock
subject to repurchase by the Company.

Since the Company has incurred a net loss in all years presented, the calculation of diluted net loss per share
excludes the following potential shares of common stock as their effect on net loss per share is antidilutive:

Year Ended December 31, I

2004 2005 2000
Stockoptions .. ........ ... . ... 4,880,765 3,077,682 1,467,741
Stockwarrants . .. ... ... e 46221 100,175 6,586
Restricted common stock ..................... 35,801 83,196 172,219

4,962,787 3,261,053 1,646,546

(n) Exit and Disposal Activities

Daring 2003 and 2004, the Company closed its Chicago and India offices and downsized its operations in
Portland, Maine and London, England as part of its efforts to reduce operating expenses and consolidate its
operations. Total costs incurred related to these exit and disposal activities amounted to charges of $1.3 million
and $103,000, respectively, in 2004 and 2006, and a $10,000 credit in 2005 (see Note 12).

(o) Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (“SFAS™) No. 130, “Reporting Comprehensive Income,”
requires foreign currency translation adjustments and certain other items, which were reported separately in
stockholders’ equity, to be included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). Total comprehensive
loss for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006 is comprised of the following:

{Amounts in thousands) 2004 2005 2006

Netloss .o o e e e e $(7,290) $(9,305) 5(15,815)

Foreign currency translation gain (loss) .. ............. 15 (54) {10)

Total comprehensive loss . ......................... $(7,275)  $(9,339) $(15,825)
(p) Deferred Tax Assets

Deferred tax assets or liabilities are recorded for differences in the basis of assets and liabilities for book and
tax purposes and loss carry forwards based on enacted rates expected to be in effect when these items reverse.
Valuation allowances are provided to the extent it is more likely than not that all or a portion of the deferred tax
assets will not be realized.

(g) Stock-based Compensation

At December 31, 2006, the Company had four stock-based employee and director compensation plans and a
compensatory employee stock purchase plan, which are described more fully in Note 5.

On January 1, 2006, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“FAS™) No. 123
(revised 2004) (“FAS 123(R)™), “Share-based Payment,” Under FAS 123(R), the Company measures and records
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the compensation cost of employee and director services received in exchange for stock option grants and other
equity awards based on the grant-date fair value of the awards. The values of the portions of the awards that are
uhiimately expected to vest are recognized as expense over the requisite service periods. The Company accounts
for stock options and awards granted to non-employees other than directors using the fair-value method.

The Company adopted FAS 123(R) using the modified prospective method, pursuant to which the
Company’s financial statement for prior reporting periods have not been adjusted to include compensation cost
calculated under the fair-value method. Prior to 2006, the Company used the intrinsic value method to measure
compensation expense associated with the grants of stock options or awards to employees and directors. Under
the intrinsic value method, compensation associated with such grants and awards was determined as the excess, if
any, of the current fair value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant over the price an employee or
director must pay to exercise the award. Had the Company used the fair value method to measure compensation
related to stock awards to employees, reported loss and loss per share would have been as follows for the years
ended December 31:

{Amounts in thousands, except per share data) 2004 2005
Netloss, as reported ... .. oo e $(7,290) $(9,305)
Add: Stock-based compensation recorded .. ... ... i ini 3,029 166
Deduct: Pro forma stock-based compensation . ......... ... ..., (5,133} (784)
Pro forma Net 1088 « o .ottt e e e e $(9,394)  $(9,923)
Basic and diluted loss per share:

ASTEPOMEd oo e e s $ (0.18) $ (0.21)

o0 oI 0} o 1 17 RO $(0.23) $ (022

Under the fair-value method, compensation associated with equity awards is determined based on the
estimated fair value of the award itself, measured using either current market data or an established option
pricing model. The measurement date for employee and director awards is generally the date of grant. The
measurement date for awards granted to non-employees other than directors is generally the date that
performance of certain services is complete.

The Company’s calculations of the fair value of stock option grant, including valuations for pre-2006 pro
forma calculations, were made using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions,
and resulted in the following weighted average grant-date fair values of options granted during the years ended
December 31:

2004 2005 2006
Risk-free interest rates . ... ..... .. .o inrunenannan, 39% 4.05-4.54% 4.6-5.05%
Expected volatility . ... ...t i i 125% 70-80% 60-70%
Expecteddividends ......... ... ... ... i 0% 0% 0%
Expected term (in years) .............cooiiiiiiiain., 7 6.25 2.5-10
Weighted average grant-date fair value of options granted during
the year .. ... .. . .. $105 3 107 § L6

The Company uses historical volatility of the Company’s common stock to estimate expected volatility.
Beginning in 2005, the expected term of options granted is estimated to be equal to the average of the contractual
life of the options and the grant’s average vesting period. The risk-free interest rate is derived quarterly from the
published US Treasury yield curve, based on expected term, in effect as of the last several days of the quarter,




The following table summarizes the components of stock-based compensation expense for the years ended
December 31:

2004 2005 2006
(Amounts in thousands)
Stock option grants issued priorto 2006 . ......... S $2970 $8 $ 530
Stock option grants issued subsequentto 2005 .............. — — 568
Restricted stock grants to directors and employees .......... 59 80 331
Employee stock purchase plan .......................... — — 54
Total stock-based compensation expense . ................. $3,0206  $166 31,483

As of December 31, 2006, unamortized compensation cost, net of estimated forfeitures, related to nonvested
stock options and nonvested restricted shares granted under the various stock incentive plans, amounted to $3.7
million and $393,000, respectively. These costs are expected to be amortized over weighted average periods of
2.1 years and 1.0 years, respectively.

(r) Foreign Currency Translation

The financial statements of foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars in accordance with SFAS
No. 52, “Foreign Currency Transiation.” Where the functional currency of a foreign subsidiary is its local
currency, balance sheet accounts are translated at the current exchange rate and income statement accounts are
translated at the average exchange rate for the period. Gains and losses resulting from translation are
accumulated in a separate component of stockholders’ equity.

(s) New Accounting Pronouncements

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™) has issued Interpretation No. 48 (“FIN 48") regarding
“Accounting for Uncertainties in Income Taxes,” which defines the threshold for recognizing the benefits of
tax-return positions in the financial statements as “more-likely-than-not” to be sustained by the taxing authorities.
FIN 48 also requires explicit disclosure requirements about a Company’s uncertainties related to their income tax
position, including a detailed roll-forward of tax benefits taken that do not qualify for financial statement
recognition. This Interpretation is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006. The Company is
currently assessing the possible impact of FIN 48.

In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) issued Staff Accounting Bulletin
(“*SAB”) No. 108 on “Quantifying Misstatements in Financial Statements.” Under SAB No. 108, the Company is
required to use a combination of the two previousty-acceptable approaches for quantifying misstatements, and to
adjust its financial statements if this combined approach results in a conclusion that an error is material. This SAB is
effective for fiscal years ending after November 15, 2006. The Company has adopted SAB No. 108, and its
adoption did not have a material effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements”, which defines fair value,
establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles, and expands
disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 applies under a number of other accounting
pronouncements that require or permit fair value measurements. The provisions of SFAS No. 137 are effective
for the Company beginning Janvary 1, 2008. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting SFAS
No. 157 on its financial position and results of operations.

(t) Reclassifications

Beginning in 2005, the Company has broken out cost of third party technology and cost of services as
separate line 1tems in its Consolidated Statements of Operations. Previously, these amounts had been combined
and reported as a single amount. The related amounts in the 2004 Consolidated Statements of Operations were
reclassified to be consistent with the current year presentation.
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(2) Acquisition
Pricing Analytics, Inc.

On April 2, 2004, the Company completed its acquisition of all of the outstanding capital stock of Pricing
Analytics, Inc. (“Pricing Analytics™), a California corporation located in Redwood City, California, which
marketed software used to evaluate pricing strategies, for a purchase price of $1.2 million. The Pricing Analytics
acquisition provided the Company with technology that the Company believes will enhance its product offerings
to its customers in both the health and life sciences and indusiry solutions segments. The merger consideration of
$1.2 million consisted of $995,000 in cash, assumed liabilities of $36,000, transaction costs of $60,000 and
advance royalties of $75,000 previously paid by the Company to Pricing Analytics in 2003. The cash
consideration was paid in four equal quarterly installments beginning in April 2004 with the final installment of
$248,000 paid in January 2005. The Company has consolidated the operating results of Pricing Analytics
beginning on the date of acquisition.

In addition, upon achievement of certain revenue milestones through March 31, 2005, the former Pricing
Analytics shareholders were entitled to additional consideration of up to $1.8 million, payable in cash or common
stock at the Company’s election. Since the revenue milestones were not achieved, no additional consideration
was paid or recorded in the accompanying financial statements.

The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at
the date of acquisition (amounts in thousands}):

Acquired intangible @Ssets ... ... ..t $ 740
In-process research and development . ............ ... ... oot 290
GoodwWill ... 136

Total assets acquired . ... .. vvei i it s 1,166
Less current Habilities . ... ... ouunre it 36
Net assets acqUITEd . ...\ v v vttt e $1,130

The $740,000 of acquired intangible assets represents the fair value of the technology acquired, which is
being amortized over a four-year life. The entire value of acquired intangible assets, in-process research and
development, and goodwill was assigned to the health and life sciences segment. The Company does not expect
to deduct any portion of the goodwill for tax purposes.

The portion of the purchase price allocated to in-process research and development, totaling $290,000, was
expensed upon consummation of the Pricing Analytics acquisition. This allocation was attributable to one
in-process research and development project, which consisted of the development of significant new features and
functionality to an existing software product. Pricing Analytics had achieved significant technological milestones
on the project as of the acquisition date, but the project had not reached technological feasibility.

The value of the purchased in-process research and development was computed using a discount rate of
45% on the projected incremental revenue stream of the product enhancements, net of anticipated costs and
expenses. The 45% discount rate was derived based on the Company’s estimated weighted average cost of capital
as adjusted to reflect the additional risk inherent in product development. The discounted cash flows were based
on management’s forecast of future revenue, costs of revenue and operating expenses related to the products and
technologies purchased from Pricing Analytics. The determined value was then adjusted to reflect only the value
creation efforts of Pricing Analytics prior to the close of the acquisition. At the time of the acquisition, the
project was approximately 35% to 40% complete. The Company invested approximately $135,000 in the project
following acquisition. The project’s development progressed, in all material respects, consistently with the
assumptions that the Company had used for estimating its fair value. The project was completed in October 2004.
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Pro Forma Information

The following unaudited pro forma information summarizes the effect of the Pricing Analytics acquisition,
as if the acquisition had occurred as of January 1, 2004. This pro forma information is presented for
informational purposes only. It is based on historical information and does not purport to represent the actual
results that may have occurred had the Company consummated the acquisitions on January 1, 2004, nor is it
necessarily indicative of future results of operations of the combined enterprises. Pro forma results for the year
ended December 31, 2004 are in thousands of dollars, except per share data:

{Unaudited)

Pro fOrma TEVEIIUES . . . . o . oottt e e e e e e e e e e $38,413
Proforma net loss .. ... i i e e e (7,621
Proformanetlosspershare ........ ... . ... . . .. . i, (0.18)

(3) Details of Financial Statement Components
Property and Equipment, net

The cost and accumulated depreciation of property and equipment consist of the following at December 31:

2005 2000
{Amounts in thousands)
Computer SOTtWANE . ..ottt it it iia e $1,295 $1,399
Computerhardware .......... ... iiiiiininnnnen.nn 3,383 3,334
Furniture and equipment . . . . ... ...ttt 1,269 1,279
Leasehold improvements . ........... ... ... . . oot 283 307
6,230 6,319
Less—accumulated depreciation and amortization ............... 5,042 4,978
Total property and equipment, net ..............cc.vvein.... $1,188 $1,341

Depreciation expense was approximately $917,000, $796,000 and $824,000, respectively, for the years
ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006.

Acquired Intangible Assets, Net

The gross carrying value and accumulated amortization of other acquired intangible assets consist of the
following:

December 31, 2005 December 31, 2006

Gross Gross
Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated
Amount Amortization Amount Amortization

(Amounts in thousands)

Acquiredtechnology ........ ... it $6,043 $5,330 $6,043 $5,812

Amortization expense for acquired technology was $1.5 million, $1.4 million and $482,000, respectively,
for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006.

Acquired intangible assets are being amortized on a straight-line basis over a four-year life. Projected future
annual amortization is as follows for the years ended December 31 (in thousands):




Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consist of the following at December 31:

2005 2006
(Amounts in thousands)
Accrued payroll and benefits ... ... ... . L oo $1,694 $2,071
Accrued consulting and professional fees ............. ... ... 816 1,084
Accrued COmMMISSIONS . . ... .. ettt ettt e e e 710 803
Accrued resIrUCIUTINg COSES . .. vttt e et ina e e ia e 218 226
Accrued O NET . ... e e 660 491
Total accrued EXPEMSES - . . ..o vttt ittt an e $4,098 $4,675

(4) Strategic Relationship Agreement

In May 2000, the Company entered into a ten-year Strategic Relationship Agreement (the “Initial P&G
Agreement”) with The Procter & Gamble Company (“P&G”), pursuant to which P&G designated the Company
as its exclusive provider of purchase contract management software for its commercial products group for a
period of three years. In addition, P&G agreed to provide the Company with certain strategic marketing and
business development services over the term of the Initial P&G Agreement. P&G also entered into an agreement
to license certain software and technology from the Company.

As consideration for entering into the Initial P&G Agreement, the Company granted to P&G a fully
exercisable warrant to purchase 875,000 shares of its common stock. The warrant was converted into 561,960
shares of common stock via a non-cash exercise during 2000. In addition, the Company had agreed to pay P&G a
royalty of up to 10% of the revenue generated from the commercial products market, as defined. As of
December 31, 2002, no such royalties had been eamed or paid. In February 2003, the Initial P&G Agreement
was amended to delete the royalty provision, in exchange for which the Company granted to P&G a fully
exercisable warrant to purchase 1,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock (see Note 5(f)).

(5) Stockholders’ Equity
(a) Authorized Capital

The Company has authorized capital stock of 105,000,000 shares, of which 100,000,000 shares are
designated as common stock, $0.0001 par value per share, and 5,000,000 shares are designated for preferred
stock, $0.01 par value per share. At December 31, 2005 and 2006, the Company had reserved 12,568,600 and
10,789,151 shares of common stock, respectively, for issuance upon the exercise of stock options and warrants.

(b) Private Placement

On November 6, 2006, the Company completed a private placement of its securities, issuing 3,533,566
shares of its common stock and common stock purchase warrants to purchase up to an additional 1,060,663
shares of common stock. The per unit price of the private placement offering was $1.98, with each unit
comprised of one share of common stock and a warrant to purchase three-tenths of a share of common stock. The
warrants are exercisable at $2.11 per share until November 201 L. Net proceeds to the Company were
approximately $6.5 million, after deducting commissions and other fees. These shares of common stock and
those issuable upon exercise of the warrants have been registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission
and the registration became effective as of February 3, 2007.

(c) Stock Option Plans

In March 2000, the Company adopted the 2000 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan, which provides
for the grant of up to 562,500 shares of common stock in the form of nonqualified stock options to directors who
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are not employees. Each non-employee director is granted an option to purchase 62,500 shares of common stock
upon initial election or appointment to the board. In addition, each non-employee director receives an option to
purchase 25,000 shares of common stock on the date of each annual meeting of stockholders.

In April 2001, the Company adopted the 2001 Employee Stock Option Plan, which provides for the grant of
up to 1,000,000 shares of common stock in the form of nonqualified stock options. All of the Company’s
officers, employees, directors, consultants and advisors are eligible to receive awards under the 2001 Employee
Stock Option Plan, with not more than 25,000 shares to be issued in the aggregate to officers or directors of the
Company. This plan is administered by the Company’s Board of Directors and its Executive Compensation
Committee, which determines the terms of all grants thereunder.

In June 2001, the Company adopted the 2001 Stock Incentive Plan, which provides for the grant of up to
5,000,000 shares of common stock in the form of incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, restricted
stock awards and other stock-based awards. In addition, if any previous award under the 2001 Stock Incentive
Plan or other previously-adopted option plans of the Company expires or is terminated, surrendered or cancelled
without having been fully exercised, the unissued shares covered by any such award shall be available for grant
under the 2001 Stock Incentive Plan. All of the Company’s officers, employees, directors, consultants and
advisors are eligible to receive awards under the 2001 Stock Incentive Plan.

In June 2003, the Company adopted the 2003 Stock Incentive Plan, which provides for the grant of up to
5,000,000 shares of common stock in the form of incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, restricted
stock awards and other stock-based awards. All of the Company’s officers, employees, directors, consultants and
advisors are eligible to receive awards under the 2003 Stock Incentive Plan,

Stock options terminate 10 years after grant and vest over periods set by the Board of Directors at the time
of grant. These vesting periods have generally been for four years, on a ratable basis, except for the grants of
non-qualified stock options which had a more accelerated vesting period. Certain stock option awards provide for
accelerated vesting if there is a change in control.

The following table summarizes total common shares available for future grants of stock options and other
equity awards at December 31, 2006:

2000 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan . .. .. ... ... .......... 162,500
2001 Employee Stock OptionPlan . ...... ... ... . ... . ... ... ... ..., 862,805
2001 Stock Incentive Plan . . ..., . oo e 733,262
2003 Stock Incentive Plan . ... oot e e L265,882
Total available for future grant .. ... ... ... . ... ... 3,024,449
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The following table summarizes stock option activity under all of the Company’s stock option plans for the
years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006:

Weighted
Weighted Average Agpgregate
Average  Remaining  Intrinsic
Number of Exercise  Contractual Value

Shares Price Term (3000)
Qutstanding at January 1,2004 .. ... .. ... ... ..l 13,248,570 $2.144
Granted during 2004 . ....... ... ... ... i, 986,792 1.101
Exercised during 2004 ... ... ... ..ol (1,691,937 0.283
Canceled during 2004 . ... .. ... ..o, (3,145,975) 3438
Qutstanding at December 31,2004 . ... ................... 9,397,450 1.927
Grantedduring 2005 ........ ... .. ... . oo, 1,828,412 1.618
Exercised during 2005 . ... ... . ..ol (3,087,531) (.284
Canceled during 2005 . ........ ... o i . (2,483,241) 3.873
Qutstanding at December 31,2005 .................. ... ... 5,655,090 1.867
Granted during 2006 ........... ... ... ..o iiiiii, 3,463,100 1.931
Exercisedduring 2006 . ......... ... ... .. . i 812,071y 0.562
Canceled during 2006 . ... ... ... . i (1,129,362 2.153

Outstanding at December 31,2006 ........................ 7,176,757 $2.002 8.1years $2,035

Exercisable at December 31,2006 ........ ... ... ..l 2,786,098 $2.254 6.3 years $1,897

The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and
2006 was $1.5 million, $3.7 million and $1.1 million, respectively.

{d) Restricted Stock Awards

A summary of the status of the Company’s nonvested restricted shares as of December 31, 2006, and
changes during the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, is presented below:

Weighted
Average
Number of Grant-Date
Shares Fair Value
Nonvested at January 1, 2004 . .. ... e 16,215  $1.000
Granted during 2004 _ .. .. L e 36,000 1.570
Vested during 2004 . . ... it (16,215) 1.000
Forfeited during 2004 . . . ... ... . i — —_
Nonvested at December 31, 2004 . .. ... i e e e e 36,000 1.570
Granted during 2005 . . ... .. e e 360,036 1.480
Vested during 2005 .. .. ..o i e (36,000) 1.570
Forfeited during 2005 . . ... ... i (8,000) 1.490
Nonvested at December 31, 2005 . .. ..o i e e e e 352,036 1.480
Granted during 2000 . ... ... ... e ey 252,860 1.737
Vested during 2000 . . .. ... L. e e (199,154) 1.604
Forfeited during 2000 . . .. ... i e e (72,972 1.568
Nonvested at December 31, 2000 . . . ...t i i i ettt e e 332,770  $1.582

The total fair value of restricted shares which vested during the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and
2006 was $16,000, $57,000 and $319,000, respectively.

50




{e) Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In March 2000, the Company adopted the 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP), which authorizes
the issuance of up to 1,250,000 shares of common stock to participating employees at 85% of the closing price of
the common stock on the first day or last day of each offering period, whichever is lower. Because of the
presence of option and discount features, the Company’s ESPP is treated for accounting purposes as a
compensatory plan in according with FAS 123(R). As of December 31, 2006, there was $24,000 of unamortized
compensation cost, net of estimated forfeitures, related to options granted under the ESPP. This cost is expected
to be amortized over the remaining five months of the enroliment period in effect as of December 31, 2006,

As of December 31, 2006, a total of 587,945 shares were available for grant under the Company’s ESPP.
The following table summarizes the number of shares and per share prices for purchases since January |, 2004

Number of Price per

Shares Share
JUune 2004 . e e 89,660 $0.810
December 2004 . ..o e e e e 101,873 1.070
June 20005 .. e e 91,4806 1.275
December 2008 . ... e e 72,472 1.170
JURE 2006 L e e e 65,131 1.165
December 2000 .. ... e e 52,751 1.607

{f) Warrants

At December 31, 2005 and 2006, the Company had warrants outstanding at exercise prices ranging from
$1.20 to $13.20, as described below.

In August 2001, as part of a merger transaction, the Company issued a warrant to purchase 4,546 shares of
the Company’s stock at an exercise price of $13.20. This warrant expires in November 2010,

In February 2002, the Company granted two warrants to common stock investors pursuant to a private
placement offering, one of which expired during 2002, The remaining warrant to purchase 165,062 shares of the
Company’s common stock is exercisable for a period of seven years at an exercise price of $7.50) per share.

In February 2003, the Company granted to P& a fully exercisable warrant to purchase 1,000,000 shares of
the Company’s commeon stock. The warrant was exercisable for a period of three years at an exercise price of
$1.20 per share. Using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and based upon an exercise price of $1.20 per
share, a then current stock market value of $1.11 per share and a volatility factor of 125%, the Company
calculated the fair value of the fully exercisable warrant to purchase 1,000,000 shares of common stock as
$795,000. This amount was recorded by the Company in 2003 as a component of sales and marketing expense. In
November 2004, April 2005 and June 2005, P&G partially exercised the warrant, acquiring an aggregate of
750,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. In February 2006, P&G exercised the remaining 250,000
shares of the warrant.

In November 2006, the Company granted warrants to common stock investors pursuant to a private
placement offering. The warrants to purchase up to 1,060,663 shares of the Company’s common stock are
exercisable for a period of five years at an exercise price of $2.11 per share,

A summary of the Company’s outstanding warrants as of December 31, 2006 is presented helow:

Number of Exercise Price

Expiration Date Shares Per Share

February 2000 . ... e e 165,062 $ 7.50

November 2010 .. ... . e e 4,546 13.20

Novermber 2011 . ..o e 1,060,663 2.11
Total Shares ... .o e e e 1,230,271



(6) Income Taxes

There was no provision for income taxes recorded or income taxes paid in the years ended December 31,
2004, 2005 and 2006. A tax benefit, related to a refund of $82,000, was recorded in fiscal 2004. At December 31,
2006, the Company had approximately $118 million of U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards and
research and development credit carryforwards of $4.6 million. The federal net operating loss carryforwards
expire in the years 2008 through 2026 and are subject to certain annual limitations. The federal research and
development credit carryforwards expire in the years 2007 through 2026. Due to the uncertainty surrounding the
Company’s ability to realize these net operating loss carryforwards, tax credits and its other deferred tax assets, a
full valuation allowance has been placed against the otherwise recognizable net deferred tax asset.

Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets are as follows:

December 31,
2005 2006

(Amounis in thousands)
Federal net operating loss carryforwards .. ....... . ............oint, $ 44,706 $ 40,125
State net operating loss carryforwards ... ... ... o i 6,306 6,465
Research and development tax credits .. ... ... ... ... ... il 4,362 4,605
Deferred reVeNUE . ..ottt et et e e e 3,129 3,855
0111 =3 913 924
Less—Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets ...................... (59,416) (55,974)

Net deferred taX aSSeLS . ... vv ittt vnern et 5 — 5 —

A reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory rate to the effective rate is as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2005 2006

Federal Statutory TRIE . . . ... ..ttt i e (34.0)% (34.00% (34.00%
Research and development tax credits . . ... ... ... oo i 4.7 5.2) (2.2)
State taxes, net of federal benefit ... ... ... . i 5.3 (5.3) 5.3
Amortization of acquired intangible assets . ....... ... .. ..o e 4.6 43 0.4
In-process research and development ....... ... ..o oo 1.4 — —
Impairment write-offs .. ... .. . e — (170.1) 62.2
Stock option and warrant charges . ......... . . . . ... il 6.9 (44.3) 0.1
0T 5 =1 (1.8} 1.2 0.6
Valuation allowance for deferred tax asset ... ... .. it .. 31.8 2534 (21.8)

Provision (Benefit) for income taxes ........ .. . i i i i an%e —% —%

Under the terms of certain of the Company’s merger agreements, the Company has agreed to not take any
action that could violate the tax-free merger status of these mergers. In the event that tax authorities determine
that a merger no longer qualifies as a tax-free exchange, the Company may be required to reimburse the selling
party to the merger for any additional taxes that may be imposed on the selling party. In such a circumstance, the
Company would receive additional tax basis in the assets acquired in the merger.
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(7) Commitments and Contingencies

The Company leases its facilities under operating lease agreements and certain of its equipment under
noncancelable capital and operating lease agreements through 2011. Future minimum lease commitments under
all noncancelable leases at December 31, 2006 are approximately as follows:

Operating Capita!
Leases Leases

(Amounts in thousands)
Year ending December 31,

200 e e e 1,797 $185
2008 L e 1,727 161
2000 e 1,238 99
3 876 —
0 665 —
Total minimum lease payments ........ ...t iiiirninnen., $6,303 445
Less—Amount representing interest .. ... .. .. ... i 5
Present value of minimum lease payments ............................. 394
Less—Current portion of capital lease obligations ....................... 154
Capital lease obligations, net of current portion . .. ....................... $240

At December 31, 2006, future minimum lease commitments included an aggregate of $3.0 million related to
leased office space that is no longer in service. The net present value of this $3.0 million aggregate lease
commitment, as offset by future estimated sublease receipts totaling $1.8 million, is included in other long-term
liabilities and accrued expenses as indicated in Note 12.

Included in property and equipment are assets pursuant to capital lease arrangements as follows at
December 31:

2005 2006

(Amounts in thousands)
Computer SOftWAre . .......ooiii it e $— $10
Computer hardware .. ........... ... 000t iaeeiinniinannn.. 24 375
24 385
Less—Accumulated depreciation and amortization . .............. 4 71
520 s34

Total rent expense was approximately $1.4 million, $1.1 million and $1.2 million for the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively.

The Company is often involved in contractual disputes, litigation and potential claims arising in the ordinary
course of business. The Company does not believe that the resolution of these matters will have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s financial position or results of operations. The Company is not a party to any
material pending legal proceedings.
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(8) Unaudited Quarterly Financial Data

THREE MONTHS ENDED
MARCH 31, JUNE 30, SEPT.30, DEC.31, MARCH3l, JUNE30, SEPT.30, DEC.3l1,
2005 2005 2005 2005 2006 2006 2006 2006
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

Total net revenues ... $8934 $8366 $7,050 $8226 $7618 $6895 57471 $7591
Cost of third-party

technology ....... 10 79 206 225 77 40 128 24
Cost of services .. ... 3,793 3,890 3,682 3,399 3,817 4,094 4,504 4,525
Amortization of

acquired intangible

ASSetS ... v 355 343 343 343 343 47 46 46
Netloss ............ (1,574) (2,318) (3,359 (2,054) (3,030) 4,477 (3,941 (4,367)
Net loss per share—

basic and diluted . . . (0.04) (0.05) {0.07) (0.04) (0.06) (0.09) (0.08) (0.09}

(9) Segment Disclosure

The Company measures operating results as two reportable segments, each of which provide multiple
products and services that allow manufacturers, purchasers and intermediaries to manage their complex contracts
for the purchase and sale of goods. These segments are consistent with how management establishes strategic
goals, allocates resources and evaluates performance. The accounting policies of the segmenis are the same as
those described in the summary of significant accounting policies. The Company’s reportable segments are
strategic business units that market to separate and distinct industry groups: (i) health and life sciences, which
includes pharmaceutical manufacturers, and (ii) industry solutions, which comprises all other industries. The
following tables reflect the results of the segments consistent with the Company’s management system.

Health and Industry
Life Sciences  Solutions  Unallocated Totals

{Amounts in thousands)

At and for the year ended December 31, 2006:

INEL FEVETIUSS © o\ v oo e et e ettt e e e e e e e et eiaas $2188 % 7689 $ — $ 29,575
Segment loss ... ... 2,704y  (12,955) (156) (15,815)
Segment assets ........ i 28,013 3,021 5,951 36,985
Goodwill ... . e 2,716 —_ 5,951 8,667
At and for the year ended December 31, 2005:
INELTEVEIUES . o oo e e et e e et e e e et it ae e $24618 § 7958 § — $ 32,576
Segment gain (I0SS) ... 1,343 (10,023 (625) (9,305)
SEZMENTASSEIS o i v v eeenie sttt 30,327 2,038 6,107 38,472
Goodwill . ... e 2,716 — 3,951 8,667
At and for the year ended December 31, 2004:
NEETEVEIUES .« . o\ vttt et ettt et e ieeaeaenns $27913 $10500 $ — $ 38,413
Segment gain (loss) . ......... ... .. 3,221 (9,886) (625) (7,2900
SegMENLaSSets . ... vii vt e 33,842 3,624 6,732 44,198
Goodwill . ....o e e 2,716 — 5,951 8,667

For segment reporting purposes, unallocated amounts consist of goodwill and acquired intangible asset
values and related amortization amounts with respect to the 2002 acquisition of Menerva Technologies, Inc.
Interest revenue, interest expense, other significant non-cash items, income tax expense or benefit, and unusual
items that are atiributable to the segments do not have a significant effect on the financial results of the segments.
In performing the annual goodwill impairment test, goodwill is assigned to the Company’s reportable segments.
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Geographic Information:

Revenue* Long-lived Assets

2004 2005 2006 2004 2005 2006

- _ - (Amounts in thousands)
United States . ........................ N% 9% 88% $12,583  $11,010 $10,327
United Kingdom ...................... 2% 2% 3% 264 235 460
The Netherlands ...................... 2% 3% T% —_ —- —
Canada ............ ... ... ... ... 2% 2% 1% — — —
Other ....... .o i i 2% 2% 1% — — —
Total ..... ... .. 100% 1_09% 100% $12,847  $11,245  $10,787

* Revenues are attributed to countries based on location of customers.

(10) Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

A rollforward of the Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts is as follows:

{Amounts in thousands)

Balance at January 1,2004 ................ .. ... ... ... ..., $ 588
ProvISIONS .. ... e 220
Write-0ffs . .. . e 414
Currency translation adjustments . ........................ 8

Balance at December 31,2004 .. ... ... .. .. .. ... ... 402
Provisions . ... .. . .. e 150
Write-0ffs .. . i e e (19N
Currency translation adjustments . ......................., _®

Balance at December 31,2005 . ... .o e 525
Wrte-0ffs . ... (392)
Currency translation adjustments ......................... 4

Balance at December 31,2006 . ... ... .. i e $ 137

(11) Employee Benefit Plan

The Company sponsors a 401(k) defined contribution plan as a retirement plan for its qualifying employees.
In April 2006, the Company began to provide a discretionary matching contribution. The matching contributions
paid by the Company amounted to $111,000 in 2006. The Company made nc matching contributions in 2004 and
2005.

{12} Restructuring and Other Charges

In March 2004, the Company completed the reduction of its workforce that it had begun in 2003 to
streamline its operations in advance of a planned (and subsequently terminated) sale of its health and life
sciences operation. For the year ended December 31, 2004, the Company recorded (i) accrued cease-use lease
charges of $512,000 and $180,000, respectively, in connection with the partial closing of its facilities in London,
England and Portland, Maine, (ii) an additional $103,000 in cease-use lease charges related to its closed Chicago,
lilinois office, which it had closed in late March 2003 incurring a $1.8 million cease-use charge for the year
ended December 31, 2003, (iii) $284,000 in severance costs for employees whose employment was terminated
prior to March 31, 2004 and (iv) impairment charges of $267,000 with respect to property and equipment that
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were no longer in productive use. With respect to the partial closing in January 2004 of its London office, the
Company determined the fair value of the remaining liability (net of estimated sublease rentals) on its lease at the
cease-use date. With respect to the closing of one of its Portland offices in January 2004, no sublease assumption
was incorporated in the calculation of the cease-use lease accrual because the lease expired in April 2004, as it
was not reasonable to sublease the facility for such a short term.

For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, the Company realized a net credit of $10,000 and a
charge of $103,000, respectively, in connection with the amortization of its long-term lease restructuring accruals
for its Chicago and London facilities. For 2005, the credit resulted primarily from foreign currency adjustments.

A rollforward of the Company’s accrued liability for restructuring and other charges is as follows:

Employee  Lease costs
Severance and asset
Costs impairments Total

{Amounts in thousands)

Balances at January 1, 2004 ... ... $116 $1,395 $ 1,511
Restructuring provisions in 2004 ... .. ... .. o oiioi et 284 795 1,079
Property and equipment impairments in 2004 ... ......... ... o oL — 267 267
Payments in 2004 .. ... ... e (400} (849) (1,249)
ASSEt WHEE-dOWIIS . ..ttt ittt it it et e —_— (267 (267)

Balances at December 31, 2004 . .. ... i e e — 1,341 1,341
Restructuring credits in 2005 ... ... . oo — (10} (10)
Payments in 2005 ... ..ottt s — (212) (212)

Balances at December 31,2005 . ... .o i et s — 1,119 1,119
Restructuring provisions in 2000 . ... .. ool — 103 103
Payments in 2000 .. ... — (2371 (237

Balances at December 31,2000 . ... ... ot $— $ 985 $ 985

Current portion—included in accrued expenses .. ............ ... $ 2206
Noncurrent portion—included in other long-term liabilities . . . ..... $ 759

{13) Termination of Proposed Merger with Selectica, Inc.

On March 31, 2005, the shareholders of the Company voted to reject a proposed merger among the
Company, Selectica, Inc. (“Selectica™) and a subsidiary of Selectica. As a result, the merger agreement among
the parties terminated. Under the terms of the merger agreement, Selectica would have paid $1.55 per share in
cash for all outstanding shares of the Company’s commeon stock, for a total transaction value of approximately
$70.0 million. In the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005, the Company incurred $455,000 and $65,000,
respectively, in legal fees and other costs related to the proposed merger, and these costs were charged to general
and administrative expenses.

(14) Change In Senior Management

In August 2005, the Company announced the departure of its Chief Executive Officer, A. Leigh Powell, and
its Chief Operating Officer, Terrence M. Nicholson. Also, Yorgen Edholm was appointed Acting President and
Chief Executive Officer, and John A, Rade was appointed Chairman of the Board with certain executive powers.
In connection with the resignation of these executives, the Company incurred $350,000 in severance and benefit
costs in the year ended December 31, 2005. In February 2006, Mr. Edholm resigned as Acting President and
Chief Executive Officer while remaining on the Board of Directors, and Mr. Rade assumed his role as Acting
President and Chief Executive Officer on an interim basis. In August 2006, Mr. Rade was appointed President
and Chief Executive Officer on a permanent basis.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not Applicable

ITEM %A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

{a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. As required by Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(b), our
management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer, or CEQ, and Chief Financial Officer, or
CFO, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2006. The term
“disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act,
means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed by the company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and
procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed 1o ensure that information required to
be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and
communicated to the company’s management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers,
as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure (the “Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Purposes”). Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and
operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and management necessarily
applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Based on this
evaluation, our CEO and CFO concluded that, as of December 31, 2006, our disclosure controls and procedures
were effective, to the reasonable assurance level, for the Disclosure Controls and Procedures Purposes.

(b) Management's Assessment of the Effectiveness of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Qur
management, under the supervision of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. is responsible for
establishing and maintaining an adequate system of internal control over financial reporting. Internal control over
financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reltability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control
over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Therefore, even those systems determined to be
effective can only provide reasonable assurance with respect 1o financial statement preparation and presentation.
The Company’s management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2006. In making this assessment, the Company’s management used the criteria set
forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in {nternal Control-
Integrated Framework. Based on our assessment, management believes that, as of December 31, 2006, the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting is effective based on those criteria. The Company’s
independent registered public accounting firm has issued an audit report on our assessment of the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting. This report appears below in this Item 9A.

{c) Changes in Internal Control. No change in our internal control over financial reporting occurred during

the quarter or year ended December 31, 2006 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Shareholders
I-many, Inc.
Edison, New Jersey

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on
Internal Control, that I-many, Inc. maintained effective internal conirol over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria)”. I-many, Inc.’s
management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control over
financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our
aundit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s
assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reascnable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepled accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are made only
in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that I-many, Inc. maintained effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO criteria.
Also in our opinion, I-many, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on the COSO criteria.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the consolidated balance sheets of I-many, Inc. as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the
related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2006 and our report dated March 16, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s BDO Seidman, LLP

BDO Seidman, LLP
Woodbridge, New Jersey

March 16, 2007
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION.
Not Appiicable

PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

See “Election of Directors” and “Corporate Governance”™ in our Proxy Statement for the 2007 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended
December 31, 2006, which we refer to as the “2007 Proxy Statement,” which is incorporated herein by reference,
and the information set forth in the section entitled “Executive Officers of the Registrant” in Part [, Ttem 4A of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

See the information set forth in the section entitled “Executive Compensation and Related Information” in
the 2007 Proxy Statement, which is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12, SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

See the information set forth in the sections entitled “Stock Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management” in the 2007 Proxy Statement, which is incorporated herein by reference.

The following table provides information as of December 31, 2006 about our common stock that may be
issued to employees, consultants or members of the Board of Directers under all of our existing equity
compensation plans,

Number of securities Number of securities
to be issued upon Weighted average  remaining available for
exercise of exercise price of future issuance under
outstanding options, outstanding options, equity compensation
Plan Category warrants and rights  warrants and rights plans(1)
Equity compensation plans approved by
securityholders ......................... 7,101,210 $2.00 2,749,589
Equity compensation plans not approved by
security holders(2) ....................... 75,547 $1.99 862,805
Total ... ... ... . 7,176,757 52.00 3,612,394

(1) Excludes securities reflected in column 1, “Number of securities to be issued upon exercise of outstanding
options, warranis and rights.”

(2} Our 2001 Employee Stock Option Plan, which provides for the issuance of stock option awards to
employees who are not executive officers, has not been approved by our stockholders. This plan permits
stock option awards {but no other forms of grant) for up 1o 1,000,000 shares of our common stock, provided
that officers and directors may not receive options for more than 25,000 shares in the aggregate under this
plan. Option awards under this plan are treated as non-qualifying options.

ITEM 13, CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

See the information set forth in the section entitled “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” in the
2007 Proxy Statement, which is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES.

See the information set forth in the section entitled “Audit Fees and Other Matters” in the 2007 Proxy
Statement, which is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) DOCUMENTS FILED AS A PART OF THIS REPORT
1, Consolidated Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements listed below together with the report thereon of BDO Seidman LLP,
the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, dated March 16, 2007 are included in this report
in Item 8 and are incorporated herein by reference.

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Exhibits Required to be filed by Item 601 of Regulation S-K

The information called for by this paragraph is contained in the Exhibit Index of this report which is
incorporated herein by reference.

(b) EXHIBITS
EXHIBIT
NO. DESCRIPTION
31D Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation
3.2(2) Certificate of Designation for Series A Preferred Stock
3.3(3) Amended and Restated Bylaws
4.1(1) Specimen certificate for shares of common stock

4.2(1)(4) Description of capital stock (contained in the Certificate of Incorporation filed as Exhibit 3.1(i)
and the Certificate of Designation for Series A Preferred Stock as filed in Exhibit 3.1(ii))

10.1(1) 1994 Stock Plan

10.2(1) 1997 Stock Option/Incentive Plan

10.3(1) 2000 Stock Incentive Plan

10.4(1)* 2000 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan
10.5(5)* 2001 Stock Incentive Plan

10.6(6) 2001 Employee Stock Plan

10.7¢7) Menerva Technologies, Inc. 2000 Stock Incentive Plan
10.8(8)* 2003 Stock Incentive Plan
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EXHIBIT
NO. DESCRIPTION

10.9(1) Form of sublease agreement, dated February 11, 2000, between PXRE Corp and Registrant

regarding premises at 399 Thornall Street, Edison, New Jersey

10.10(9)* Employment agreement, dated January 15, 2007, between Registrant and John A, Rade

10.11¢(10)* Employment agreement, dated June 16, 2003, between Registrant and Kevin M. Harris

10.12(11)* Amendment to Employment Agreement between the Registrant and Kevin M Harris, dated as of

January 26, 2006

10.13(3)* Amended and Restated Severance Agreement between the Registrant and Robert G. Schwartz,

Jr., dated February 8, 2007

10.14(3)* Severance Agreement between the Registrant and David L. Blumberg, dated February 8, 2007

10.15(12)* Severance Agreement between the Registrant and A. Todd Shytle, dated December 5, 2006

10.16* Severance Agreement between the Registrant and Michael Zuckerman dated March &, 2007

10.17(13) Securities Purchase Agreement, dated November 1, 2006, among the Registrant and the

purchasers named therein

10.18(13) Registration Rights Agreement, dated November 1, 2006, among the Registrant and the

purchasers named therein

10.19(13) Form of Warrant Agreement, dated November 1, 2006

10.20* Summary of 2007 Executive Management Bonus Plans

14.1 I-many, Inc. Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

21.1 Subsidiaries of the Registrant

23.1 Consent of BDO Seidman, LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting firm

24,1 Power of Attorney of Directors (see signature page)

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the
Exchange Act, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

312 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14¢a) and 15d-14(a) of the
Exchange Act, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 Section 906 Certifications

99.1 Amended and Restated Audit Committee Charter

®

ey
(2)
(3)
)
(5
(6)

(N

Marnagement contract or compensation plan or arrangement

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (File
No. 333-32346) originally filed with the SEC on March 13, 2000

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2002

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 13, 2007
Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed on February 28, 2002
Incorporated by reference to the 2001 Proxy Statement, filed with the SEC on April 25, 2001

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2001

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 5-8 (File No. 333-86938) filed
with the SEC on April 25, 2002
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(8) Incorporated by reference to the 2003 Proxy Statement, filed with the SEC on April 30, 2003
(9) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 18, 2007

(10) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
2003

(11) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 1. 2006
(12) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated December | 1, 2006

(13) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 2, 2006
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly caused this Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly

authorized.

I-MANY, INC.

By: /s/ JOHN A. RADE

John A, Rade
Chief Executive Officer, Chairman of the Board
of Directors and President

Date: March 16, 2007
/s/  KEVIN M. HARRIS

Kevin M. Harris
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

Date: March 16, 2007

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes
and appoints John A. Rade and Kevin M. Harris, jointly and severally, his attorney-in-fact, each with the power
of substitution, for him in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments to this Report on Form 10-K and to file
same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that each of said attorney-in-fact, or his substitute or substitutes,

may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Form 10-K has been signed below
by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

SIGNATURE

/s/  JOHN A. RADE

John A. Rade

Is/  KeviIN M. HARRIS

Kevin M, Harris

/s/ REeEYNOLDS C. BIsH

Reynolds C. Bish

Yorgen H. Edholm

fs/  STEVEN L. FINGERHOOD

Steven L., Fingerhood

/s/ MURRAY B. Low

Murray B. Low

/s/ MAaRrK R, MITCHELL

Mark R. Mitchell

fs/  KarL E. NEWKIRK

Karl E, Newkirk

Chief Executive Officer, Chairman of

TITLE DATE

March 16, 2007

the Board of Directors and President
(principal executive officer)

Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

March 16, 2007

(principal financial officer)

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

63

March 14, 2007

March 16, 2007

March 14, 2007

March 14, 2007

March 14, 2007




[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK])




DIRECTORS

John A, Rade
Chairman of the Board of Directors
Prasident and Chief Executive Cfficer

Reynolds C. Bish

Seli-employed Consultant

Former Chief Executive Officer and Director
Captiva Software Corparation

Yorgen H. Edholm
Chief Executive Officer
Accelfion, Inc.

Steven L. Fingerhood
Managing Partner
ZF Partners, LP

Murray B. Low

Assaciate Professor and Executive Directar
of the Eugene M. Lang Center for
Entrepreneurship

Columbia Business Schoot

Mark R. Mitchell
Partner
Ramius Capital Group, LLC

Karl E. Newkirk
Independent Director
Asiba, Inc.

OFFICERS

John A. Rade
President and Chief Executive Officar

David Blumberg
Executive Vice President of Fulfillment Services

Kevin M. Harris
Chief Financial Gfficer

Robert G. Schwartz, Jr.

Vice President and General Counsel
A. Todd Shytle

Senior Vice President, Sales

Michael T. Zuckerman
Senior Vice President, Marketing

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

8D0 Seidman, LLP

330 Madison Avenue
New York, NY 10017-5001
ph 212 885 8000

fax 212 697 1299

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR

American Stock Transfer & Trust Company
6201 15th Avenue

Brooklyn, NY 11219

ph 718 921 8200

l-many {NASDAQ:IMNY) is the leading provider of advanced Contract lifecycle Management solutions for
managing corporate commitments. Designed to extend beyond the traditional contract management capabilities,
[-many CentractSphere® offers an end-to-end solution - from pre-contract processes and contract management {o
transaction compliance. Ultimately, this provides companies with the visibility and control needed to manage any
type of commitment - from contracts and obligations to payments and collections. The result is increased revenug,
minimized risk and dramatically reduced operating costs, which deliver improved profitability with hard return on
investment. More than 280 customers across 21 industries worldwide have implemented and realized the value of
[-many business solutions. For mare information, please visit www.imany.com.
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ORLDWIDE HEADOQUARTERS:

-many, Inc.

2th Floor

399 Thornall Street
zdison, NJ 08837
b 200 832 0778
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I-many, Inc.

255 Shoreline Crive

Suite 300

Redwood Shares, CA 94065
h Q00 837 0728

PORTLAND, MAINE OFFICE:

l-many, Inc.

511 Congress Street
6th Floor

Portland, ME 04101
yh 800 832 0228

EURQOPEAN HEADQUARTERS:
l-many, Inc.

21 Whitefriars Street

London

ECAY 8JJ
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